Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Pharmacology & Therapeutics



### journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pharmthera

## DNA mismatch repair in cancer

## Marina Baretti, Dung T. Le \*

The Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins Hospital, United States

#### ARTICLE INFO

Available online 15 April 2018

Keywords: Microsatellite instability Mismatch repair Immune checkpoint blockade Tumor mutation burden Cancer immunotherapy

## ABSTRACT

Microsatellite instability (MSI) refers to the hypermutator phenotype secondary to frequent polymorphism in short repetitive DNA sequences and single nucleotide substitution, as consequence of DNA mismatch repair (MMR) deficiency. MSI secondary to germline mutation in DNA MMR proteins is the molecular fingerprint of Lynch syndrome (LS), while epigenetic inactivation of these genes is more commonly found in sporadic MSI tumors. MSI occurs at different frequencies across malignancies, although original methods to assess MSI or MMR deficiency have been developed mostly in LS related cancers. Here we will discuss the current methods to detect MSI/MMR deficiency with a focus of new tools which are emerging as highly sensitive detector for MSI across multiple tumor types.

Due to high frequencies of non-synonymous mutations, the presence of frameshift-mutated neoantigens, which can trigger a more robust and long-lasting immune response and strong TIL infiltration with tumor eradication, MSI has emerged as an important predictor of sensitivity for immunotherapy-based strategies, as showed by the recent FDA's first histology agnostic-accelerated approval to immune checkpoint inhibitors for refractory, adult and pediatric, MMR deficient (dMMR) or MSI high (MSI-H) tumors. Moreover, it is known that MSI status may predict cancer response/resistance to certain chemotherapies.

Here we will describe the complex interplay between the genetic and clinical-pathological features of MSI/dMMR tumors and the cancer immunotherapy, with a focus on the predictive and prognostic role of MMR status for immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) and providing some suggestions on how to conceive better predictive markers for immunotherapy in the next future.

© 2018 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

## Contents

1.	Introduction	46
2.	Etiology of MSI-H tumors	46
3.	The methods of testing MSI and MMR deficiency and sensitivity properties	47
	Frequency of MSI across human tumors	
	Clinico-pathological feature of MSI/dMMR cancers	
6.	dMMR/MSI tumors and increased neoantigen burden and response to PD-1 blockades	52
7.	Impact of MMR on the tumor microenvironment (TME): The interplay between cancer genetics and cancer immunology .	55
8	The genomic landscape of cancers shapes response to anti-PD-1 therapy	56

Funding: This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.
 Corresponding author at: 1650 Orleans Street, CRB1, Baltimore, Room 410, Maryland 21287, United States.

*E-mail address:* dle@jhmi.edu (D.T. Le).

*Abbreviations*: 5-FU, 5-fluorouracil; bMMRD, Biallelic mismatch repair deficiency; CD28, cluster of differentiation 28; CIN, Chromosomal instable; CR, complete response; CRC, colorectal cancer; CTL, cytotoxic T-lymphocytes; CTLA-4, cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4; DFS, disease free survival; dMMR, deficient MMR; EC, endometrial cancer; EPCAM, epithelial cell adhesion molecule; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; GB, glioblastoma; GC, gastric cancer; HNPCC, hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer; HR, Hazard ratio; ICI, immune checkpoint inhibitor; IHC, immunohistochemistry; IPI, ipilimumab; LS, Lynch syndrome; MANA, mutation-associated neoantigens; Mb, megabase; mCRC, metastatic colorectal cancer; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MMR, mismatch repair; MSH2, MutS protein homologue 2; MSH6, MutS homologue 6; MSI, microsatellite instability; MSI-H, microsatellite instability-high; MSI-L, MSI-low; MSS, microsatellite stable; NCCN, National Comprehensive Cancer Network; NCI, National Cancer Institute; NGS, Next-generation sequencing; Nivo, nivolumab; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; OR, overall response rate; OS, overall survival; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; PD-1, programmed cell death 1; PD-L1, Programmed cell death ligand 1; PFS, progression free survival; pMMR, Proficient MMR; PMS2, PMS1 homologue 2; PR, partial response; TCGA, The Cancer Genome Atlas; TILs, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes; TMB, tumor mutation burden; TME, tumor microenvironment; Tregs, regulatory T cells; WES, whole-exome sequencing.

9.	9. MMR deficiency, mutational burden and checkpoint inhibitors in pediatric cancers		
10.	Conclusions and future perspectives		
Con	ıflict of interest statement		
Refe	erences		

## 1. Introduction

## 1.1. The mismatch repair system

Microsatellites are short, tandemly repeated (usually 10–60 times) sequences of mononucleotide, dinucleotide or higher order nucleotide repeats (unit length ranging from 1 to 6 bases), that are scattered throughout the human genome, most commonly as (CA)n. (Findeisen et al., 2005; ). These sites are prone to DNA replication errors as a result of DNA polymerase slippage, byYamamoto & Imai, 2015 either inserting additional bases when slippage occurs on the synthesized strand or by removing bases when slippage occurs on the template strand, leading to mismatched DNA strands (Drake, Charlesworth, Charlesworth, & Crow, 1998; Kunkel & Erie, 2005). It is estimated that the replicative DNA polymerases epsilon and delta make errors approximately once for every 10<sup>4</sup> and 10<sup>5</sup> nucleotides that they polymerize (Chang, Metzgar, Wills, & Boland, 2001). Thus, each time a cell divides, approximately 100,000 polymerase errors occur, which must be corrected through the combined actions of proofreading activity of polymerase epsilon and delta (Bebenek & Kunkel, 2004). However, some errors always escape proofreading, and are effectively corrected through the mismatch repair (MMR) system (Arana & Kunkel, 2010), responsible for the surveillance and correction of errors during DNA replication, repair and recombination.

MLH1, MutS protein homologue 2 (MSH2), MutS homologue 6 (MSH6) and PMS1 homologue 2 (PMS2) are the main proteins involved in this MMR system, and they interact as heterodimers: MSH2 couples with either MSH6 or MSH3 (forming MutS $\alpha$  and MutS $\beta$  complexes, respectively), and MLH1 couples with PMS2 or MLH3 (forming MutL $\alpha$ , MutL $\beta$  or MutL $\gamma$  complexes, respectively) (Jiricny, 2006a, b; Li, 2008). The complex formed by a MutS and a MutL is ultimately responsible for the recognition of mismatches and insertion–deletion loops (Genschel, Littman, Drummond, & Modrich, 1998) and subsequent recruitment of the MLH1/PMS2 complex will degrade the mutated stretch and initiates resynthesis.

Patients with a defect in any of these components or, in a gene upstream of MSH2 that encodes the epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EPCAM), will develop a "mutator phenotype" with numerous frameshift mutations in coding and non-coding microsatellites and at other genetic loci beyond the microsatellites. This results in the microsatellite instability-high (MSI-H) phenotype, closely related to carcinogenicity of hereditary and sporadic tumors (Eshleman & Markowitz, 1996). MSI-H cancers are associated with 100- to 1000-fold increased mutation rates of frameshift and missense mutations.

Frameshift mutations in coding sequences may give rise to altered protein products in the tumor, termed "neoantigens". These neoantigens are unique to the tumor and thus could potentially be recognized as "non-self" molecules by the immune system.

The purpose of this review is to examine current knowledge of the DNA MMR machine, review the landscape of tumors with MSI and outline the assays available to detect MSI or MMR deficiency. It is now widely recognized that the development of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) has revolutionized cancer care, showing unprecedented clinical benefit for some tumor types, including MSI-H cancers. In this review we will describe the relationship between MMR status and sensitivity to current immunotherapies, and we will address the immune contexture and genomic profiles of tumors with MSI and their implications for immunotherapeutic approaches.

## 2. Etiology of MSI-H tumors

## 2.1. Lynch syndrome-related and sporadic MSI-H tumors

MSI can be used as a surrogate marker of Lynch syndrome (LS) (also known as hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer-HNPCC) since LS is caused by germline mutations in any one of five DNA MMR genes—MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 and, rarely, PMS1 (Fishel et al., 1993; Ionov, Peinado, Malkhosyan, Shibata, & Perucho, 1993; Kolodner et al., 1999; Leach et al., 1993; Liu et al., 1996; Papadopoulos et al., 1994).

In addition, germline deletions affecting the 3' exon of EPCAM gene (previously known as TACSTD1, tumor-associated calcium signal transducer 1), result in transcriptional read-through and induce epigenetic silencing of the downstream MSH2 locus by promoter hypermethylation (Ligtenberg et al., 2009). Recently, germline mutations in MSH3 were reported, which occurs in longer repeats not routinely investigated by conventional MSI testing, further expanding the spectrum of MMR deficiency in humans (Adam et al., 2016). If, according to Knudson's second hit model, the remaining wild-type allele is somatically inactivated in LS patients, the DNA MMR capacity is lost (Knudson Jr., 1985).

Lynch syndrome is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by an elevated risk for cancers of the ovaries, kidneys, bladder, stomach, small bowel, bile ducts, brain kidney, biliary tract and gallbladder cancers, and skin sebaceous tumors., with the biggest increase in risk for endometrial cancer (EC) and colorectal cancer (CRC) (Aaltonen et al., 1998; Lin et al., 1998; Salovaara et al., 2000).

In the mid-1960s Henry T. Lynch was the first to clinically describe this hereditary cancer syndrome and differentiated it from familial adenomatous polyposis (caused by an inherited mutation of the tumor suppressor gene APC) (Lynch, 1999; Lynch & de la Chapelle, 1999; Lynch & Smyrk, 1999).

Germline mutations in MMR genes lead to a cumulative risk of 60%– 70% to develop CRC in men, and 30–40% in women; 40–80% is the cumulative risk of developing EC (Stoffel et al., 2009). It is, indeed, clinically important to emphasize that the lifetime risk of developing EC in affected women is higher than their lifetime risk of developing CRC (Hampel et al., 2005).

While LS has an incidence of 1:1000 in the general population, the incidence is up to 1:100 in individuals with CRC, accounting for about 2.5% of CRC (Chen et al., 2006; Ligtenberg et al., 2009).

Since about 15% of all CRC are MSI-H, the remaining 12.5% result from sporadic alteration in MMR genes (Koopman et al., 2009). The prevalence of MSI in CRC, however, differs based on tumor stage: about 20% in stage II, 12% in stage III and much less common among patients in stage IV (about 4%).

Sporadic MSI most commonly arises from epigenetic silencing of the MLH1 promoter, by aberrant methylation in CpG Island and is associated with a somatic BRAF pV600E mutation (Herman et al., 1998). Less commonly, sporadic cases are associated with biallelic somatic inactivation of the genes encoding MMR components (Nicolaides et al., 1994).

In regard to EC, MMR function is lost in 20–30% of patients (Chen et al., 2006; Palomaki, McClain, Melillo, Hampel, & Thibodeau, 2009), and LS accounts for approximately 25% of these cases, while the majority involve somatic hypermethylation of MLH1 promoter or somatic mutations of MMR genes (Koopman et al., 2009; Kuismanen et al., 2002; Kunitomi et al., 2017). The incidence of MSI in gastric cancers (GC)

varies from 8 to 37% and the MSI phenotype in GC is predominantly caused by epigenetic hypermethylation of MLH1 rather than germline mutations in MMR genes (Seo et al., 2009).

There is an interesting relationship between genotype and phenotype, as peculiar manifestation of LS reflects the specific mutation carried by the patient. Patients with MSH2 mutation, for instance, have a greater risk of developing non-CRC (Ligtenberg et al., 2009) compared to patients with MLH1 mutation, which are more likely to develop CRC at younger age (Lin et al., 1998). Finally, EC risk is higher for patients with MSH6 germline mutations (Kolodner et al., 1999). Comparison of instability frequencies of the individual marker loci between CRC and EC showed that despite identical genetic predisposition, the MSI profiles of these tumors show significant differences. CRCs present a predominant instability at the non-coding BAT loci (at least one being unstable in 89% of tumors), TGFRII (73%), dinucleotide repeats (at least one being unstable in 70% of tumors), MSH3 (40%), and BAX (30%). On the other hand, PTEN instability is significantly associated with ECs, occurring in 20% of these tumors, as compared to 5% of CRC (Kuismanen et al., 2002). In ECs, however, the pattern tends to be more heterogeneous, typically involving different coding repeats. This implies that the genesis of gastrointestinal and ECs occurs by different routes even if driven by generalized MSI.

# 3. The methods of testing MSI and MMR deficiency and sensitivity properties

## 3.1. Clinical criteria for the diagnosis of Lynch syndrome

Amsterdam and Bethesda criteria were developed to identify potential LS patient candidates for genetic testing. The Amsterdam criteria, first set in 1991, were developed to clinically identify potential HNPCC patients (Vasen, Mecklin, Khan, & Lynch, 1991; Vasen & Muller, 1991).

Advances in knowledge of HNPCC, make it clear that this syndrome was associated also with higher risk of extracolonic cancers. In order to address this issue, in 1998 the revised Amsterdam criteria (Amsterdam II) were developed, as following: diagnosis of CRC in two first degree relatives, involving at least two generations, one of these must have been diagnosed by the age of 55. The presence of a third member of the family with an unusual early-onset tumor or EC is considered sufficient to classify the family as meeting the Amsterdam II criteria (Aaltonen et al., 1993).

The Bethesda guidelines were proposed first in 1997 and further revised in 2003 (Boland et al., 1998; Umar, Boland, et al., 2004; Umar, Risinger, Hawk, & Barrett, 2004) to overcome the limitations of the Amsterdam criteria which did capture all patients with possible LS. Only one of the following criteria need to be met in the revised Bethesda guidelines: diagnosis of CRC under the age of 50 years, presence of other LS-related tumors (including synchronous or metachronous CRC), patient under the age of 60 with CRC histology that resembles the typical characteristic of MSI tumor, diagnosis of CRC in a patient with history of first-degree relative under the age of 50 with a LS-related cancer, or a CRC patient with at least two first- or second-degree relatives with LS-related cancers. Of course, all patients who meet the Amsterdam criteria are also recommended to undergo further testing. It has been shown that the Bethesda criteria are more sensitive (94%) as compared to Amsterdam II criteria (72%) and the original Amsterdam criteria (61%) identifying patients with LS (Moreira et al., 2012). However, the specificity of these criteria is low and about 50% of the clinically suspected cases are not confirmed by a genetic defect (Menko, Wijnen, Vasen, Sijmons, & Khan, 1998; Wijnen et al., 1998). Dinh et al. considered the opposite approach of general population screening using a risk prediction tool (PREMM126) and reported that screening of individuals with a predicted risk of LS  $\geq$  5% was cost/effective, regardless of the age (Dinh et al., 2011).

Based on all these data, in 2018 National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines have been published. This guideline endorses universal MMR or MSI testing of all patients who have a personal history of CRC (National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018). Many NCCN member institutions even suggest to perform IHC and sometimes MSI testing on all newly diagnosed CRC and EC, regardless of family history, to determine which patients should further being evaluated for LS.

## 3.2. MSI testing

Screening to determine defective MMR status is becoming increasingly common, having important implications not only for screening for LS, but also for prognosis, and for prediction of response to fluorouracil and ICIs therapy.

MSI polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and immunohistochemistry (IHC) are two molecular biology–based methods that are in routine use for clinical MSI testing. MSI-PCR analysis is used to detect instability in microsatellite repeats whereas MMR IHC is used to detect the lack of expression of one or more MMR proteins (Aaltonen et al., 1998; Cairns et al., 2010).

MSI is detected by PCR amplification of specific microsatellite repeats, whose instability is determined by comparing the length of nucleotide repeats in tumor cells and normal cells from adjacent normal mucosa. These regions are amplified within both tumor and normal tissue via fluorescent multiplex PCR and their size assessed by capillary electrophoresis (Bacher et al., 2004; Berg et al., 2000).

In the mid-1990s, investigators were adopting different markers, thus resulting in a great variability of MSI frequency reported even in the same type of cancer. To overcome this problem, in 1997 the National Cancer Institute (NCI) has recommended a panel (known as NCI or Bethesda panel) of five microsatellite markers for testing: two mononucleotides loci (Big Adenine Tract [BAT] 25 and BAT26 and three dinucleotide repeats (D2S123, D5S346 and D17S250) (Umar, Boland, et al., 2004; Umar, Risinger, et al., 2004). Three categories of MSI have been established based on the results: MSI-high (MSI-H) indicating a shift in the size of at least two of the five microsatellite loci in tumor as compared to normal tissue (or >30% of loci if a larger panel of markers is used); microsatellite stable (MSS), indicating no loci with instability (or <10% of loci in larger panels) and MSI-low (MSI-L), associated to a shift in the size of one locus (or in 10–30% of loci in larger panels). MSI-L behaves in a similar manner to MSS tumors and does not appear to be a good predictor of LS, so this result is grouped with the MSS type and does not lead to further testing. It has been shown that the dinucleotide repeats have less sensitivity and specificity than mononucleotide repeats, in particular in patients with non CRC, and in MSH6 mutation-related tumors (Verma et al., 1999). The reason for this is that MSH6 protein is involved in the repair of base-base mismatches, but not dinucleotide ones, as well as in single nucleotide deletions/insertions, but not in the repair of larger deletion/insertions and consequently MSH6-deficient tumors can result falsely stable when analyzed using the three dinucleotide markers in the NCI panel (Verma et al., 1999).

A recent follow-up NCI workshop recognized this limitation of the original Bethesda panel (Umar, Risinger, et al., 2004). Indeed, a panel of five mononucleotide repeats (NR-21, NR-22, NR-24, BAT-25, BAT-26) was proposed (Suraweera et al., 2002). A modified pentaplex panel with replacement of NR-22 with NR-27 is also used. They showed that the pentaplex assay efficiently discriminates the MSI status of tumors regardless of their MMR defect and consequently, the pentaplex panel was developed as a procedure with higher sensitivity and specificity, and has been proposed as a replacement for the Bethesda panel (Buhard, Suraweera, Lectard, Duval, & Hamelin, 2004).

An alternative panel has been developed by the Promega Corporation, the MSI Analysis System, which is a fluorescent multiplex assay using five mononucleotide microsatellite markers (BAT-25, BAT-26, NR-21, NR-24, and MONO-27) based on a study conducted by Bacher et al., comparing the sensitivity and specificity a set of 266 mono-, di-, tetra-, and penta-nucleotide microsatellite loci for MSI screening (Bacher et al., 2004). This research determined that mononucleotide markers were more sensitive and specific than dinucleotide markers for the detection of MSI. A study conducted at Johns Hopkins independently confirm the high performance of this assay (Murphy et al., 2006).

Controversy still exist about the most appropriate panel for screening MSI, since a recent work reached opposite conclusions and suggest that a panel targeting longer loci may have improved sensitivity (Dudley, Lin, Le, & Eshleman, 2016). Moreover, regardless of the panel used and the length of loci, since MSI testing is based on specific microsatellites analysis, the test is hampered by a missing rate estimate around 0.3% to 10% of cases (Berg et al., 2000).

## 3.3. Immunohistochemistry

IHC analysis of MMR proteins (MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2) is commonly used as alternative to MSI to detect MMR deficiency in clinical practice and can inform genetic testing for LS (Baudhuin, Burgart, Leontovich, & Thibodeau, 2005). IHC for MMR proteins has comparable performance characteristics to MSI testing and high concordance rate, with 100% specificity to MSI-H tumors and 96.7% for MSS and MSI-L tumors (Remo, Fassan, & Lanza, 2016; Wang et al., 2017). Lack of expression of one or more of MMR proteins leads to a diagnosis of deficient MMR (dMMR) while suggesting which encoding gene is most likely mutated or inactivated. In fact, MLH1 and MSH2 proteins are stable without their dimer partners (PMS2 and MSH6, respectively), but the reverse is generally not true. As a result, tumors with absent expression of MLH1 and PMS2, but retained expression of MSH2 and MSH6, represent deficient MLH1 expression, where the lack of expression of PMS2 is consequence of MLH1 deficit (either by promoter hypermethylation or mutation). On the other hand, if mutations occur in PMS2 or MSH6, only the affected protein will be lost (however, MSH2 may be lost when both of its binding partners, MSH6 and MSH3, are lost) (Vilar & Gruber, 2010).

These features allow one to determine by IHC which of the MMR genes is likely mutated (or methylated), an advantage not present with MSI testing (Shia, 2008; Zhang, 2008). MSI analysis can also be more time- and labor-consuming than IHC.

However, pros and cons are inherent to either strategy. In fact, about 5% to 11% of MSI cases will not show MMR protein loss, because missense mutations in the MMR gene can lead to functional inactivation of the protein without affecting its stability and antigenicity and, therefore, its expression level. Some analyses, evaluating cost spent per lifeyear gained in the general population, have favored PCR-based MSI testing as an initial measure (Mvundura, Grosse, Hampel, & Palomaki, 2010) whereas a more recent cost-effectiveness study favored screening patients with IHC (Ladabaum et al., 2011; Snowsill et al., 2015). These older analyses do not take into consideration cost-effectiveness in the context of an effective immunotherapy option for these patients.

The Association of Molecular Pathology supports the idea that IHC and MSI screening methods provide complementary information regarding defective MMR, and thus recommend all new CRC cases to be subjected to concurrent MSI analysis, IHC for MMR proteins, and BRAF mutation screening (as discussed in the next paragraphs), although whether this is the most cost-effective approach in the general population, is still debatable (Mills et al., 2014). Snowsill et al. clearly showed that all strategies included for the identification of LS (MSI testing, IHC, BRAF mutation) were cost-effective versus no testing.

## 3.4. The role of BRAF and/or MLH1 promoter hypermethylation in sporadic MSI-H CRC

The immunohistochemical finding in MSI-H sporadic CRC is usually simultaneous loss of MLH1 and PMS2. This is caused by MLH1 promoter hypermethylation, which is often associated with a BRAF mutational hotspot in nucleotide 1796 within exon 15, accounting for a T:A transversion mutation and a valine to glutamic acid substitution (c.1799T > A -p.V600E-), which is the most frequent somatic substitution identified in dMMR CRC (Davies et al., 2002; Yuen et al., 2002). Of note, BRAF mutations are mutually exclusive with KRAS mutations (Miyaki et al., 2004).

Promoter hypermethylation of hMLH1 and subsequent BRAF V600E alterations have been reported in about 10% to 15% of MMR proficient (pMMR) tumors, and in 70% of dMMR tumors (Wang et al., 2003).

Given that BRAF V600E mutation occurs at a higher frequency in sporadic MSI tumors than in hereditary cases, clinicians have used it to support the sporadic origin of MSI tumors (Domingo et al., 2004). However, although a BRAF mutation profoundly reduces the probability of a diagnosis of LS, it does not entirely exclude the possibility (Funkhouser Jr. et al., 2012).

## 3.5. Assessing MSI using next generation sequencing

Current available tools have been primarily developed and optimized for the detection of MSI in CRC (Bartley, Luthra, Saraiya, Urbauer, & Broaddus, 2012; de la Chapelle & Hampel, 2010; Haraldsdottir et al., 2014; Salipante, Scroggins, Hampel, Turner, & Pritchard, 2014), hence their ability to detect instability events in other cancer types is a matter of dispute. For instance, evidence exists that MSI testing by PCR may be less accurate in tumor types other than CRC (Faulkner, Seedhouse, Das-Gupta, & Russell, 2004). It is clear that there is a great variability in microsatellite loci instability among different cancer types, and loci that are consistently stable in CRC may be frequently mutated in other cancer types, and vice versa (Forgacs et al., 2001; Kim, Laird, & Park, 2013; Onda et al., 2001). This cancer-specific MSI landscape has important implications and challenges for the diagnosis of MSI in clinical practice.

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) with targeted gene sequencing or whole exome/genome sequencing have emerged as a new tool for identification of patients with DNA-MMR deficiency, by comparing sequencing reads around microsatellite regions in the tumor and the matched normal, or by counting mutations identified in exons, respectively (Salipante et al., 2014; Timmermann et al., 2010; Woerner et al., 2010). NGS, allowing to investigate a myriad of microsatellites simultaneously, is more comprehensive and it is not cancer-type-specific, potentially being a better strategy to ascertain instability burden and MSI status in all cancer types, and overcoming the sensitivity and specificity issues related to both PCR-based MSI testing and IHC testing for MMR proteins.

Moreover, NGS can be applied to formalin-fixed and paraffin embedded (FFPE) tissue material as well as highly degraded DNA which is routinely prepared in pathology departments or found in archived DNA (Stiller, Knapp, Stenzel, Hofreiter, & Meyer, 2009).

Different computational tools have been developed (Hause, Pritchard, Shendure, & Salipante, 2016; Hechtman et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2015; Kautto et al., 2017; Niu et al., 2014). Here we will discuss the most recent data obtained with these tools, providing a paradigm of how they can be profiled to serve as highly sensitive detector for MSI across multiple tumor types.

Hause et al. developed the MOSAIC method for cross-sectional MSI analysis in 18 cancer types using the cancer exomes from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database, thus extending the analysis to additional cancer types for which MSI status is not tested routinely in clinical practice. In this study authors investigated a total of 223,082 microsatellites, from 5930 tumor exomes. The average number of unstable microsatellite loci varied considerably by cancer type (765 in thyroid carcinomas, to 2315 in colon cancer). As expected the highest prevalence of MSI-H cases occurred in cancer types that classically demonstrate MSI: EC (30%), GC (19%) and colon (19%), while rectal cancers had a lower prevalence of MSI-H specimens (3%). Low but still detectable, frequencies of MSI-H were observed in 12 other cancer types, suggesting that MSI may be a generalized cancer phenotype. They used a set of 617 specimens (colon, rectal, endometrial, stomach) as control

and compared the results obtained with MSI–PCR and MOSAIC, showing 95.8% sensitivity and 97.6% specificity (Hause et al., 2016).

As we will discuss later, the prognostic role of MSI status is still a matter of dispute, with most of the data available assessed in CRC patients (Samowitz et al., 2001). A very interesting finding from Hause et al. was that, while only a weak association was observed between MSI status and survival outcome, the global burden of microsatellites (measured as continuous variable), showed a more significant positive correlation with survival in uterine, endometrial, rectal, colon, stomach, and thyroid cancer and lower-grade glioma. This result may reflect a link between MSI events and the production of cancer neoantigens that can be recognized as 'non-self' by the immune system (Mlecnik et al., 2016).

Finally, the fractions of unstable loci were not significantly different between metastatic and primary tumors, consistent with other studies (Fujiyoshi et al., 2017; Haraldsdottir et al., 2016; Jung et al., 2017) which suggests that either the primary tumor or the metastasis can be assessed for MSI.

In 2017 Bonneville et al., expanded our knowledge investigating the prevalence of MSI in 21 additional cancer types by using the previously published MSI-calling tool, MANTIS (Kautto et al., 2017). The authors analyzed paired whole-exome sequencing (WES) data from 11,139 tumor-normal samples derived from either TCGA database, the TAR-GET45 database, or from other studies. In this tool, 2530 microsatellites loci were analyzed, containing only two of the loci assessed in both the Bethesda and Promega MSI-PCR panels, and neither of these were within the set of 22 loci that showed a significant different score in MSI-H versus MSS. MSI was detected in 27 of the 39 total types of cancer. They observed similar rates of MSI in the 18 type cancers as shown by Hause et al. The results showed a significant disease-specific prevalence of MSI, from 31.4% in EC to 0.25% in glioblastoma and the 3 cancer type with the highest rates of MSI prevalence were as expected EC, CRC and GC. Consistent with previous studies, MSI was more frequent in colon adenocarcinoma (19.7%) than rectal adenocarcinoma (5.7%). In addition, tumors other than these type were analyzed, and 0.8% were MSI-H. Of importance, MSI was detected in three cancer types that had not been previously characterized, adrenocortical carcinoma (MSI-H in 4.3%), cervical squamous cell carcinoma and endocervical adenocarcinoma (2.6%), and mesothelioma (2.4%). This study demonstrated a high sensitivity and specificity (97% and 99%, respectively) of MANTIS as compared with samples with known MSI status by MSI PCR across six cancer types, although the limitation of the study was related to the absence of data for MLH1 hypermethylation.

We have also evaluated 12,019 cancers, from 32 distinct tumor types for MMR deficiency using a NGS–based approach and found MSI-H frequency > 2% in 11 of these tumor types. As anticipated, the rate of dMMR cancers in stage I-III was higher than in stage IV cancer (Le et al., 2017).

Middha et al. reported the results of 13,091 cancer samples, including 66 metastatic cancer types sequenced with MSK-IMPACT (The Memorial Sloan Kettering-Integrated Mutation Profiling of Actionable Cancer Targets) an NGS clinical assay (Cheng et al., 2015; Hechtman et al., 2017). This represents the most extended series so far published. An MSIsensor score of 10 was determined as a sensitive cut-off to separate MSS from MSI-H tumors, which was validated in a cohort of CRC and EC. They found that 1.8%, (20 tumor types) displayed an MSI-H phenotype. Concordant with the Bonneville study, and as expected, MSI-H prevalence was higher among EC (15.6%) and CRC (8.3%). The inclusion of only metastatic disease, could explain the lower prevalence of MSI-H tumors in this cohort, as compared to other studies (Middha et al., 2017). Among the patients without CRC/EC, bladder cancer (3.1%), esophagogastric carcinoma (2.5%), and prostate cancer (1.7%) had the higher MSI-H incidence.

Overall, they observed a high sensitivity and specificity for MSI-H in CRC and EC (100% and 99.3%, respectively), as well as a high sensitivity and specificity across other tumor types (96.6% and 100%). Accordingly,

all MSH6-deficient tumors were MSI-H on MSIsensor assessment, suggesting better performance in this subset of cancers (Stelloo et al., 2017). Finally, while survival difference according to MSI was confirmed in CRC in favor of MSI-H, no difference in other tumor types in term of survival were observed. In this case, an analysis of overall microsatellite burden as a continuous variable was not performed.

## 4. Frequency of MSI across human tumors

MSI occurs at different frequencies across malignancies and its signatures may differ among different cancer types: instability may concern different loci in different cancer types (Chang, Chang, Chang, & Chang, 2017). However, the majority of the data available to date come from examination of studies restricted to cancer types where clinical MSI testing was routinely performed (mostly CRC and EC) (de la Chapelle & Hampel, 2010; Kim et al., 2013).

Indeed, the prevalence of MSI in many other cancer types has been less described and significant between-study heterogeneity has been reported, as predictable given the small groups of patients in most of the studies, and the differences in methods used to evaluate MSI/ dMMR, above all when considering those studies performed before the development of more standardized markers for MSI PCR testing.

In fact, although MSI has been studied for decades, the interest in investigating this molecular signature across a broad range of tumor types has emerged due to the US Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) recent approval of immunotherapy in MSI/dMMR advanced cancers and the large amounts of sequencing data now available (Diaz Jr. & Le, 2015; Le et al., 2015).

As noted in Table 1, MSI is a common phenomenon observed across different solid tumor types. Examples of common cancers that have MSI-H frequency > 10% include CRC, EC, and GC. Cancers with MSI-H frequency between 2% and 10% include ovarian cancer, cervical cancer, and thyroid cancer. Cancers with MSI-H frequency < 2% include prostate, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), sporadic glioblastoma (GB) (Table 1).

## 5. Clinico-pathological feature of MSI/dMMR cancers

Microsatellite instability is overall observed in about 12% to 15% of CRC. The age distribution of MSI cancers follows a U-shaped distribution (Vilar & Gruber, 2010), with sporadic MSI cases generally diagnosed in older patients (>70 years) whereas hereditary cases are usually diagnosed in patients under the age of 50 (Shibata, 2002). MSI-H CRC, have a better prognosis in early stage disease (Gryfe et al., 2000; Popat, Hubner, & Houlston, 2005) and patients with LS-related MSI-H CRC have an increased risk of developing synchronous or metachronous colon cancer (Cai et al., 2003).

The majority of CRC is characterized by genetic instability due to an accelerated rate of gains or losses of whole or large portions arms of chromosome, resulting in chromosome number variability (aneuploidy), high frequency of loss of heterozygosity, chromosomal translocations or gene amplifications. This pathway of genetic instability is called chromosomal instability (CIN) and is present in ~60% of CRCs. CIN tumors are more common in the distal colo-rectum, and tend to show non-mucinous histology, moderate differentiation, and fewer tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). Such tumors tend to arise from adenomatous polyps and appear to develop along the classic genetic pathway of colorectal tumorigenesis, with mutations in APC, KRAS and TP53, as first described by Fearon and Vogelstein (1990).

MSI-H CRC, by contrast, usually have near-diploid karyotypes, with preserved chromosomal architecture (Funkhouser Jr. et al., 2012) and its genetic instability is secondary to MSI due to a defective MMR system. However, a small proportion (<5%) of CRCs has both MSI and CIN, and their molecular features generally resemble those of MSI-H/CIN negative tumors (Trautmann et al., 2006). MSI cancers also often

## Table 1

Frequency of MSI among different solid tumors.

Tumor type	Assay used	Frequency (%)	Reference
Colorectal cancer	MSI PCR MMR IHC Germline mutation	13%	Hampel et al. (2005)
	MLH1 promotor hypermethylation MSI PCR MMR IHC	17%	Ashktorab et al. (2016)
	NGS	19%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017)
		17%	Cortes-Ciriano, Lee, Park, Kim, and Park (2017)
		6%	Le et al. (2017) <sup>a</sup>
		8%	Middha et al. (2017) <sup>b</sup>
Endometrial cancer	MSI PCR	33%	Zighelboim et al. (2007)
	MLH1 promoter hypermethylation		
	NGS	30%	Hause et al. (2016) and Bonneville et al. (2017)
		28%	Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Castric capcor	MSLDCD	17%	Le et al. (2017) Pass et al. (2014)
Gastric cancer	MSI PCR MLH1 promotor hypermethylation	22%	Bass et al. (2014)
	MSI PCR MMR IHC	8%	Seo et al. (2009)
	NGS	3% <sup>c</sup>	Middha et al. (2016)
		8%	Le et al. (2017)
		21%	Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Rectal cancer	NGS	3%	Hause et al. (2016)
		6%	Bonneville et al. (2017)
		9%	Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Small Intestinal Malignancies	NGS	8%	Le et al. (2017)
Thyroid cancer (follicular and	MSIPCR	63% <sup>d</sup>	Mitmaker, Alvarado, Begin, and Trifiro (2008)
papillary)	NGS	2%	Le et al. (2017) Chiennini et al. (2004)
Hepatocellular carcinoma	MSI PCR MMR IHC	16% <sup>e</sup>	Chiappini et al. (2004)
Ampullary carcinoma	NGS MSI PCR MMR HIC	2–3% 10%	Le et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017) Ruemmele et al. (2009)
Cholangiocarcinoma	MMR IHC NGS	2%	Bonneville et al. (2017), Le et al. (2017)
Skin cutaneous melanoma	MSI PCR	2% 11% <sup>f</sup>	Palmieri et al. (2003)
skin cutaneous melanoma	NGS	1%	Bonneville et al. (2017)
Dvarian cancer	MSI PCR	10%	Murphy and Wentzensen (2011)
	MLH1 promotor hypermethylation		
	NGS	2-3%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Le et al. (2017)
			Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Cervical cancer	MSI PCR	7%	Lazo (1999)
	NGS	2-3%	Bonneville et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017), Le et al. (2017)
Pancreatic adenocarcinoma	MSI PCR	0%	Laghi et al. (2012) Marla et al. (2005)
	NGS	9% 1–2%	Maple et al. (2005) Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017), Le et al. (2017)
Head and neck squamous cell	MSI PCR	3%	Glavac, Volavsek, Potocnik, Ravnik-Glavac, and Gale (2003)
carcinoma	NGS	1%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Renal clear cell carcinoma	MSI PCR	2%	Stoehr et al. (2012)
	MMR IHC NGS	1-2%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Prostate cancer	MSI PCR	1~2%	Burger et al. (2010), Bonnevnie et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017) Burger et al. (2006)
	NGS	1–2%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Middha et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017), Le et al. (2017)
Bladder cancer	MSI PCR	1%	Catto, Xinarianos, Burton, Meuth, and Hamdy (2003)
	NGS	1%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Lung adenocarcinoma	MSI PCR	0%	Takamochi et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
	NGS	<1%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Le et al. (2017)
Lung squamous cell carcinoma	NGS	1%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
Lung small cell cancer	NGS	1%	Le et al. (2017)
Breast invasive carcinoma	NGS	1-2%	Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017), Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017) Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Cortes, Ciriano et al. (2017), Lo et al. (2017)
Glioblastoma multiforme Adrenal cortical carcinoma	NGS NGS	1% 6%	Hause et al. (2016), Bonneville et al. (2017), Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017), Le et al. (2017 Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017)
	INCO .	6% 4%	Cortes-Ciriano et al. (2017) Bonneville et al. (2017)
Mesothelioma	NGS	4% 3%	Bonneville et al. (2017)
		2%	

IHC, immunohistochemistry; MMR, mismatch repair: MSI, microsatellite instability; PCR, polymerase chain reaction.

<sup>a</sup> More patients in stage IV evaluated.
 <sup>b</sup> Study conducted only in the metastatic setting.
 <sup>c</sup> Including esophagogastric patients.

<sup>d</sup> Only 23 patients evaluated.
 <sup>e</sup> Only 37 patients in total evaluated.
 <sup>f</sup> Evaluation of 56 primary melanoma, using a panel of 13 polymorphic microsatellites.

exhibit a CpG island methylator phenotype (Samowitz, 2007; Weisenberger et al., 2006).

MSI CRC tend to arise from sessile serrated adenomas in the proximal colon (Aaltonen et al., 1993) including the transverse colon, (Cai et al., 2003; Thibodeau, Bren, & Schaid, 1993) which is part of the embryologically derived midgut, and are rare in the hindgut derived descending, sigmoid colon and rectum (Sinicrope, Rego, Foster, et al., 2006). Other pathologic differences exist: MSS CRC typically show infiltrating glands with dirty necrosis while MSI tumors are characterized by TILs and the Crohns-like lymphocytic host response, poor differentiation with pushing margins, and mucinous differentiation (Greenson et al., 2003). Mucinous differentiation is also the most common histology found in dMMR ECs.

It is of interest that histologic subtypes of MSI-H ovarian cancer revealed an overrepresentation of non-serous subtypes (mucinous and endometrioid) (Pal, Permuth-Wey, Kumar, & Sellers, 2008).

GCs with MSI-H have distinct clinical and molecular features compared to MSS GC, and share common characteristics with CRC MSI-H patients, as described above. Indeed, sporadic MSI-H GC are associated with older age and female sex, they usually are located in the gastric antrum, present with well differentiated or intestinal-type histology, and are diagnosed at earlier stage, harboring a smaller risk of lymph node metastasis, and a better prognosis (Seo et al., 2009). Association with tumor necrosis, expanding growth pattern, and TILs are also reported (Mathiak et al., 2017).

### 5.1. DNA MMR status as prognostic/predictive biomarker

## 5.1.1. Prognostic implications

Despite poor histologic differentiation, the biological behavior of MSI-H CRC is less aggressive compared to that of MSS CRC, and is associated with a lower stage at diagnosis and improved stage-specific prognosis, although other studies have suggested that any favorable prognostic effect of dMMR is limited to patients with earlier-stage tumors (Kim et al., 2007).

Gryfe et al. reported the first cohort of patients demonstrating the favorable prognostic value of MMR deficiency in CRC. Authors showed that MSI-H tumors had a more favorable prognosis, with a lower tendency to lymphnode spread and metastasis development, compared to the stable counterpart (Gryfe et al., 2000). Other studies have confirmed these results and observations. Mouradov et al. showed that MSI and CIN are independent markers of disease free survival (DFS) in stage II/III CRC, with MSI-H indicating good prognosis and CIN+ poor prognosis (Mouradov et al., 2013). This was confirmed in other studies (Sinicrope, Rego, Halling, et al., 2006; Watanabe et al., 2012). In a retrospective analysis, MSI-H phenotype was associated with significantly improved relapse free survival among tumors in the proximal colon (Hazard ratio (HR) 0.71; 95% CI: 0.53–0.94; P = 0.018), but not in the distal after adjustment for KRAS and BRAF V600E mutations and other relevant prognostic covariates (Sinicrope, Rego, Halling, et al., 2006). Intriguingly, the beneficial effect in stage III MSI CRC patients appeared to be limited to CRC harboring germline mutations in MMR genes (Tejpar, Saridaki, Delorenzi, Bosman, & Roth, 2011).

Two recent metanalysis have confirmed these findings. A large series of 2935 stage II or III CRCs found better overall survival (OS) for MSI-H or dMMR (HR 0.67, 95% CI 0.58–0.78) (Popat et al., 2005). Guastadisegni et al. found that MSI-H was associated with better OS (HR 0.6; 95% CI: 0.53–0.69; P < 0.001) and better DFS (HR 0.58; 95%CI: 0.47–0.72; P < 0.001) when compared to MSS (Guastadisegni, Colafranceschi, Ottini, & Dogliotti, 2010).

These conclusions have been accompanied by clinical observations. First, the prevalence of MSI-H CRCs is different among disease stages. Indeed, while dMMR/MSI-H CRCs represent 15–20% of stage II and III CRCs, they represent only about 4% of metastatic CRC (mCRC) cases. This lower frequency highlights the weakened capacity for dMMR CRCs to develop metastasis. However, dMMR CRC may carry a worse prognosis than pMMR CRCs in the metastatic setting, and this has been in part explained by the opposite prognostic effect harbored by BRAF mutation, which are present in higher rates in dMMR mCRCs (35%) compared with early-stage dMMR CRCs (24%) (Lochhead et al., 2013). Indeed, there is evidence of the negative prognostic effect of BRAF mutations in CRC, but the entire picture is more complex, since BRAF mutation is also strongly associated with MSI phenotype, which is an indicator of good prognosis. Different studies sought to determine if the BRAF V600E mutation may provide additional prognostic value when evaluated together with MMR status. Unfortunately, studies have reached conflicting results, when looking at different populations (stage II-III versus stage IV CRC). French et al. examined 533 tumors from high-risk stage II or stage III CRC patients enrolled in a randomized prospective clinical trial. The MMR status was defined by IHC stain coupled with PCR testing for MSI. In this study, they confirmed that MMR status is an important prognostic marker for CRC patients, with a magnitude of effect consistent with that previously observed (15% increase in 5-year DFS and OS). Importantly, they showed that the concomitant evaluation of both the MMR status and BRAF mutation status in CRC provided more prognostic information than either factor alone. Patients whose tumors were BRAF wild type/dMMR have a significantly improved OS as compared to BRAF mutated/dMMR CRC (French et al., 2008). However, further studies demonstrated that the positive prognosis impact of MSI, could overcome the negative effect of BRAF mutation. In the study by Hutchins et al., no significant difference in risk of recurrence was found based on BRAF mutation status, in stage II and III MSI-H CRC (Hutchins et al., 2011), and the same conclusion were drawn by Samowitz et al., in stage IV CRC patients, where they showed that MSI-H CRC had an excellent 5-year survival regardless of the BRAF status (Samowitz et al., 2001). Phipps and colleagues investigated the association between mutation profile and MMR status in a large populationbased registry cohort of CRC patients and found a significantly better outcome (measured as DFS and OS) in MSI-H, BRAF mutated CRC patients as compared to BRAF mutated MSS tumors (Phipps et al., 2016).

The positive prognostic effect of MSI-H has been suggested in several other tumor types (gastric, ovarian, upper urinary tract urothelial cancer, biliary tract cancers) although controversial results have been reported, and most of these are retrospective studies, lacking for a control group (Campanella et al., 2017; Cloyd et al., 2017; Ikoma et al., 2017; Kato et al., 2015). For instance, Hause et al., provided evidence that increasing MSI positively correlates with survival time in different MSI cancers, data not confirmed by MSK IMPACT outside of the CRC cohort (Hause et al., 2016).

## 5.1.2. Influence on response to chemotherapy

Components of the MMR machinery bind to 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) incorporated DNA, contributing to the observed cytotoxic response. These findings supported the hypothesis that MSI predicts absence of benefit from 5-FU-based adjuvant chemotherapy (Barratt et al., 2002). Ribic et al. in 2003 were among the first to show the benefit of 5-FUbased adjuvant chemotherapy in stage II or III MSS CRC patients but not in MSI-H patients (Ribic et al., 2003), with even a suggestion of harm in term of OS in treated CRC with MSI-H tumors. Further clinical studies have substantiated the finding that MSI patients do not benefit from 5-FU therapy, with some exceptions (Tejpar et al., 2011). Sargent et al. in a pooled analysis of a total of 1027 patients, observed a statistically significant improved DFS (P = 0.001) in patients with stage III MSS tumors receiving adjuvant 5-FU chemotherapy, but no treatment effect in stage III MSI-H tumors. Notably, a non-statistically significant benefit of adjuvant therapy was observed in patients with stage II MSS tumors, whereas they reported reduced DFS and OS in treated MSI-H stage II patients compared with non-treated MSI-H controls (Sargent et al., 2010). Sinicrope et al. reached the same conclusions reporting statistically significant benefit of 5-FU treatment in stage III patients with MMR germline (versus sporadic) mutations (TTR, P = 0.016; DFS, P =0.047; OS, P = 0.041) but not in stage II (Sinicrope et al., 2011). As a

consequence, MMR protein status assessment is recommended by the NCCN and the European Society for Medical Oncology guidelines for patients with resected stage II CRC for consideration of adjuvant chemotherapy (National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2018; Van Cutsem et al., 2016).

The impact of MMR status remains controversial in the era of the standard FOLFOX adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III CRC. A post hoc analyses of patients with stage II and III CRC (n = 1796) from NSABP-C07 and NSABP-C08 trials suggested that the benefit of adding oxaliplatin was independent of MMR status (Gavin et al., 2012). The same conclusion was provided by the analysis from the MOSAIC trial, which showed that patients with both dMMR and pMMR stage III tumors had a survival benefit from FOLFOX compared with fluorouracil alone (Andre et al., 2015).

A resistance to 5-FU–based chemotherapy in dMMR GC has also been reported. Smyth et al. recently examined the association among MMR deficiency/MSI-H and survival in patients with resectable gastroesophageal cancer randomized to surgery alone or perioperative epirubicin, cisplatin, and fluorouracil. In this exploratory analysis, they found that patients with operable MSI-H gastroesophageal cancer had superior survival compared with patients with MSI-L or MSS tumors when treated with surgery alone. However, patients with MSI-L or MSS tumors had superior survival compared to the MSI-H ones when treated with perioperative chemotherapy, hence suggesting that MSI-H gastroesophageal cancers did not benefit from perioperative chemotherapy (Smyth et al., 2017). If validated, this finding has the potential to improve patient selection for perioperative chemotherapy based on MMR status.

Preclinical studies have suggested that MSI CRC cell lines are more sensitive to irinotecan compared with MSS counterparts. For instance it has been reported that MSI-H CRC cell lines harboring mutations in microsatellites located in an intron-exon boundary polyt(11) repeat in MRE11A and in a coding polya(9) tract in hRAD50, show a particularly high sensitivity to irinotecan. However, since MMR deficiency does not always result in MRE11A or hRAD50 mutations, with mutations in these genes detected in <70% of MSI-H tumors, MSI is not an ideal predictive marker for irinotecan based therapy (Magrini et al., 2002; Pommier, 2006; Vilar et al., 2008). Few clinical studies have analyzed the activity of irinotecan in MSI-H CRC, and the results are controversial and inconclusive. A prospective analysis of 702 stage III CRC patients included in the CALGB protocol 89,803 study, evaluated the efficacy of irinotecan, 5FU and folinic acid compared with a weekly bolus of 5-FU as adjuvant therapy, and showed a trend toward a benefit of MSI-H tumors treated with the combined regimen in terms of 5 year DFS (Bertagnolli et al., 2009), albeit a subsequent retrospective analysis from PETACC3 trial did not confirm these results (Tejpar et al., 2011). As for stage IV CRC patients displaying MSI-H, a meta-analysis was attempted to address this question, but unfortunately, but due to lack of enough power, authors were unable to achieve any conclusion about the role of irinotecan-based regimens in MSI tumors.

In regard to EC, Resnick et al. reported that subgroup of patients with non-endometrioid EC and dMMR had improved survival after adjuvant radiotherapy, suggesting that dMMR status might provide predisposition to be sensitive to adjuvant radiotherapy (Resnick et al., 2010). In a previous study, although not significant, responses to platinumbased chemotherapy was higher in dMMR EC as compared with pMMR patients. However, a recent large meta-analysis pooling 23 studies concluded for lack of concrete evidence of association between dMMR status and clinical outcome in platinum-treated EC (Diaz-Padilla et al., 2013). Recently Heby et al. showed that dMMR was associated with a significantly prolonged OS in a cohort of 172 periampullary adenocarcinomas (HR = 0.32, 95% CI 0.17-0.61), although not independent of conventional prognostic factors. Interestingly, in the pancreatobiliary tumor subgroup, dMMR was only prognostic in non-adjuvant treated cases (HR = 0.26, 95% CI 0.08-0.85), while there was a significant negative interaction between dMMR and adjuvant treatment (Heby et al., 2018). These findings corroborate the urgent question about the potential predictive role for MMR status for sensitivity or resistance to therapies.

In summary, the value of MMR status as a predictive marker of response to 5-FU, irinotecan and other chemotherapeutic agents remains controversial. First, the stratification of patients in subgroups according MMR status makes the sample sizes too small to show a different effect of chemotherapeutic agents; second, the results available may have been affected by the retrospective and/or single institutional type of most of the studies cited, with different methods used to assess MSI.

However, in the era of personalized medicine, a more standardized assessment of dMMR/MSI-H phenotype in prospective and adequately powered studies, may provide valuable information, which may eventually be of predictive and therapeutic utility.

## 6. dMMR/MSI tumors and increased neoantigen burden and response to PD-1 blockades

Inactivation of MMR leads to the MSI-H phenotype, characterized by a high frequency of insertions/deletions due to unrepaired DNA polymerase slippage in microsatellites sequences (Arana & Kunkel, 2010; Drake et al., 1998). Genes most commonly targets of frameshift mutations caused by MSI are involved in different cellular functions, such as DNA repair (MSH3 and MSH6, MRE11A), epigenetic regulation (HDAC2, ARID1A), cell signaling (TGFBR2, IGFR2, ACVR2A), apoptosis (BAX), and miRNA processing (TARBP2, XPO5). There is evidence of a tumor-type specificity of frameshift MSI (Muzny et al., 2012; Nebot-Bral et al., 2017). For instance, frameshift mutations in TGFBR2 are more common in CRC and GC (58% and 80% respectively) but only present in 5% of ECs. On the other hand, frameshift mutations in the JAK1 gene have been reported in both ECs and CRCs (about 20%) (Cortes-Ciriano et al., 2017). This is important, given that JAK1 mutations have been shown to be involved in the resistance to immunotherapy in melanoma (Shin et al., 2017).

A subset of these insertions and deletions can affect coding regions of the genome and generate frameshifts in the open reading frame of genes, thus resulting in the production of truncated, functionally inactive, proteins and generate neoantigens that are qualitatively different from self (Linnebacher et al., 2001; Saeterdal et al., 2001; Schumacher & Schreiber, 2015). Endogenous cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTLs) can recognize these neoantigens that are displayed on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I molecules at the surface of tumor cells, thus increasing the TILs density and triggering an immune response in the host (Segal et al., 2008; Yarchoan, Johnson III, Lutz, Laheru, & Jaffee, 2017).

In addition to MSI, dMMR tumors are also characterized by high rate of single-nucleotide substitutions.(De Grassi et al., 2010). In CRC for instance it has been showed that approximately 1300 somatic base substitutions are acquired in MSI-H LS related CRC while only 190 somatic base substitutions are present in MSS tumors (Campbell et al., 2017; Muzny et al., 2012; Timmermann et al., 2010).

Recent progress in genomic analysis using WES and NGS technology has enabled comprehensive detection of mutations and mutation burden in cancer tissues (Table 2), revealing an higher average of somatic mutations (many of which predicted to result in neoantigens) in MSI-H cancers compared to MSS cancers. In the study by Middha et al., only three of 10,900 patients with dMMR/MSI-H status did not display a high tumor mutation burden (TMB) (Hechtman et al., 2017). In the MANTIS study, the mean of somatic mutations, both nonsynonymous and synonymous, was found to be constantly increased among MSI-H versus MSS tumors within all the tumor types (Kautto et al., 2017). Greenman et al. reported the sequencing of 518 protein kinase genes in 210 diverse human cancers, demonstrating a mutation rate for dMMR tumor approximately 25-fold higher than in proficient tumors (Greenman et al., 2007). One of the largest series investigating the relationship between TMB and MMR status, has been published recently by Chambers et al., Using targeted comprehensive genomic profiling essay

### Table 2

Current clinical trials of immune-based therapy in dMMR/MSI-H solid tumors in adult and pediatric populations.

Immunotherapy drug (mechanism of action)	Study treatment design	Phase	Population included	Indication	Recruitment status	Ref.
Atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1)	Fluorouracil, oxaliplatin, and leucovorin calcium (mFOLFOX6)/bevacizumab ± Atezolizumab IV	III	Stage IV dMMR/MSI-H CRC	First line	Recruiting	NCT02997228
	mFOLFOX6 $\pm$ Atezolimumab IV	III	Stage III, dMMR/MSI-H CRC	Adjuvant therapy	Recruiting	NCT02912559 (ATOMIC)
	Atezolizumab Bevacizumab	II	Stage IV, MSI-like CRC	Chemotherapy resistant	Recruiting	NCT02982694 (COMMIT)
Pembrolizumab (anti-PD1)	Arm A: pembrolizumab Arm B: FOLFOX or FOLFIRI (±cetuximab or bevacizumab)	III	Stage IV, dMMR/MSI-H CRC	First line	Closed to enrollment	NCT02563002 (KEYNOTE-177)
	Preoperative pembrolizumab IV followed by postoperative	II	Resectable GC:	Perioperative	Recruiting	NCT03257163
	pembrolizumab + capecitabine and radiation therapy		<ul><li> dMMR/MSI-H</li><li> EBV+</li></ul>			
	Pembrolizumab IV, followed by	II	mCRPC:	mCRPC	Not yet	NCT03248570
	taxane-based chemotherapy at the time of progression		<ul> <li>Group A: DNA damage repair<sup>a</sup> proficient</li> <li>Group B: DNA damage repair<sup>a</sup> deficient</li> </ul>		recruiting	
	Pembrolizumab	II	Advanced solid tumor, including dMMR/MSI-H CRC	Progression or intolerance to standard therapies	Recruiting	NCT02628067 (KEYNOTE-158)
	Pembrolizumab	II	<ul><li>MSI CRC</li><li>MSI non CRC</li><li>MSS CRC</li></ul>	≥2 prior therapies	Recruiting	NCT01876511 (KEYNOTE-016)
	Pembrolizumab Itacitinib (JAK1 inhibitor)	Ι	Advanced solid tumors, including MSI CRC, bMMRD tumors	Refractory to standard therapy	Recruiting	NCT02646748
	Pembrolizumab Epacadostat (IDO-inhibitor)	I/II	Advanced solid tumor including EC, MSI-H CRC, GC	>1 prior therapy	Recruiting	NCT02178722 (KEYNOTE-037)
	Pembrolizumab	Ι	<ul> <li>bMMRD- or LS – related brain tumors</li> <li>Malignant Glioma</li> <li>Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma</li> </ul>	Refractory or recurrent after standard therapy	Recruiting	NCT02359565
Avelumab (anti-PD-L1)	Avelumab	II	Stage IV CRC: • dMMR/MSI-H	>1 line therapy	Recruiting	NCT03150706
	Arm A: FOLFOX/FOLFIRI $\pm$ targeted	II	POLE mutated     Stage IV, MSI CRC	Refractory to standard	Not yet	NCT03186326
	therapy Arm B: Avelumab	11	Stage IV, WSI CKC	therapy	recruiting	(PRODIGE 54)
	Avelumab		<ul><li>MSS EC</li><li>MSI-H EC</li></ul>	Refractory or recurrent after standard therapy	Recruiting	NCT02912572
Durvalumab (anti-PD-L1) + AZD9150 (STAT3 inhibitor)	AZD9150 every week + MED4736 every 4 weeks	II	<ul><li>POLE mutated EC</li><li>NSCLC</li><li>Pancreatic Cancer</li></ul>	Refractory to standard therapy	Recruiting	NCT02983578
Nivolumab $\pm$ other	Cohort 1:Nivolumab	II	<ul> <li>dMMR/MSI-H CRC</li> <li>Stage IV CRC:</li> </ul>	Recurrent or metastatic	Recruiting	NCT02060188
immunotherapy agents	Cohort 2: Nivo + Ipi (escalation dose) Cohort 3: Nivo + Ipi Cohort 4: Nivo + Ipi + Cobimetinib Cohort 5: Nivo + BMS-986016 Cohort 6: Nivo + Daratumumab		<ul> <li>MSI/dMMR</li> <li>MSS/pMMR</li> </ul>			(CHECKMATE 14
	Nivolumab + Ipi + Radiation Therapy	II	<ul><li>MSS CRC and Pancreatic cancer</li><li>MSI-H CRC</li></ul>	Refractory or recurrent to standard therapy	Recruiting	NCT03104439
	Nivolumab	II	<ul> <li>RCC</li> <li>Head and neck neoplasm;</li> <li>Skin neoplasms</li> <li>MSI non CRC</li> <li>Penile neoplasms</li> </ul>	Resistant or refractory to standard therapy	Not yet recruiting	NCT03012581
		I-II	<ul> <li>Hypermutated malignancies in bMMRD</li> </ul>	Refractory or recurrent after standard therapy	Active not recruiting	NCT02992964
.y3300054 (anti-PD-L1)	Ly3300054 Ramucirumab (anti-VEGF) Abemaciclib (CDK4/6inhibitor)	Ι	<ul><li>MSI-H solid tumors</li><li>Cutaneous melanomas</li></ul>	Advanced, refractory	Recruiting	NCT02791334
APX005M (CD40 agonist)	Merestinib (c-MET inhibitor) APX005M	Ι	<ul> <li>Urothelial carcinoma</li> <li>MSI-high tumors</li> <li>Other solid tumor types</li> </ul>	After standard therapy	Recruiting	NCT02482168

bMMRD, biallelic mismatch repair deficiency; CRC, colorectal cancer; dMMR, deficient DNA mismatch repair; EBV, Epstein Barr Virus; Ipi, ipilimumab; mCRPC, metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer; MSI, microsatellite instable (MSI); MSS, microsatellite stable; Nivo, nivolumab; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; pMMR, proficient DNA mismatch repair; Ref., references. a Including DNA mismatch repair (MMR).

on 62,150 cancer samples, authors found that the vast majority (83%) of MSI-H samples had high TMB, with 97% displaying >10 mutations/Mb (Chalmers et al., 2017).

The clinical significance of identifying hypermutated tumors has recently been demonstrated by several studies showing that TMB, and consequent mutation-associated neoantigens (MANA) load, suits as a promising predictive biomarker of benefit for ICIs therapy (Diaz Jr. & Le, 2015; Rizvi et al., 2015; Schumacher & Schreiber, 2015). Indeed, given the promise that immune-based therapies, and ICIs specifically, have shown in treatment of refractory disease and the durable responses observed, there is great interest in identifying patients who are most likely to derive benefit from these therapies (Fig. 1) (Jin & Yoon, 2016; Nebot-Bral et al., 2017; Rizvi et al., 2015).

In preclinical models of CRC, Bardelli et al., showed that in dMMR tumors, not only there was a higher mutational load, but also the number of predicted neoantigens evolved dynamically over time, supporting that DNA MMR inactivation promotes the continuous emergence of neoantigens (Germano et al., 2017).

In our trial, we observed that MSI-H patients with high number of somatic mutations, resulting in higher MANAs load, had a longer progression free survival (PFS) and trend toward a better objective response to pembrolizumab. Importantly, all the MANAs identified resulted from frameshift mutations. Through deep sequencing of T cell receptor CDR3 regions to evaluate T cell clonal in both tumors and blood and through testing for their reactivity against candidate MANAs, we provided also evidence that dMMR tumors harbor functional MANA-specific T cells that are peripherally expanded by checkpoint blockade in responders (Le et al., 2017).

Other in vitro and in vivo studies confirmed that T helper cells and CTLs are exquisitely specific for neoantigen produced from frameshift mutations in dMMR tumors and that the amount of these frameshift neoantigens positively correlates with higher density of TILs, as already shown in CRC but also in other tumor types. For instance, Lee et al. found that MSI-H ECs have 7-fold higher neoantigens levels in comparison with MSS cancer and the number of CD3+ and CD8+ cells invading cancer tissues is also significantly higher (P = 0.001 and P < 0.001, respectively) (Lee, Kwak, et al., 2017; Lee, McNulty, Duncavage, Heusel, & Hagemann, 2017). Recently, a study by Nakamura on 260 biliary tract cancers, found 14 hypermutated tumors (mutation rates of >11.13/Mb). Of these, five harbored inactivating mutations in MMR proteins. Transcriptome sequencing and hierarchical clustering of gene expression levels showed that hypermutated tumor demonstrated significant enrichment for immunomodulatory pathways, with an higher expression of immune checkpoint molecules, upregulation in genes involved in cytokine activity and interferon signaling, supporting that this subgroup may be a good target population for immunotherapy (Nakamura et al., 2015).

However, lessons learned from the past, make it highly unlikely that clinical responders to ICIs will be identified by a single biomarker, such as dMMR, given the complex biology of tumors and the immunological cascade that must be triggered in an efficacious anti-tumor immune response. At present there is no clear strategy to establish what these



**Fig. 1.** Frameshift mutation produced by deficit in MMR system, generate neoantigens and elicit immune response, further enhanced by immune checkpoint blockade. Inactivation of MMR leads to the MSI phenotype, characterized by a high frequency of insertion/deletions due to unrepaired DNA polymerase slippage in microsatellites sequences. When these insertions and deletions affect coding regions, they can result in frameshift mutations and generate neoantigens. These neoantigens arise as a by-product when frameshifted neoproteins are degraded and derived peptides are presented. Neoantigens are therefore individual, immunogenic peptides, non-self for the immune system and unique to the tumor. Endogenous cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CD8+ T cells) can recognize these neoantigens that are displayed on MHC I molecules at the surface of tumor cells, thus increasing the TIL density and triggering an immune response in the host. This active immune microenvironment is counterbalanced by upregulation in several immune checkpoint ligands in the dMMR tumor to escape immune surveillance. Anti-PD-L1 and anti-PD-1 antibody bind to PD-L1 and PD-1, respectively, thus blocking immune tolerance resulting in an enhanced antitumor effect.

biomarkers should be and many questions remain open, as well as, important caveats should be acknowledged: 1) The relationship between TMB and MSI is imperfect. In the study by Chambers et al., only 16% of samples with high TMB were classified as MSI-H. Indeed, while in CRC, EC, GC MSI-H can be considered a surrogate marker for high TMB, in other tumor types (such as melanoma, and lung carcinoma) high TMB is commonly seen in the absence of MSI-H signature. Various other hypermutation signatures (POLE signature, UV exposure, smoking, temozolomide exposure (Hunter et al., 2006) have been shown to be associated with an increased mutation rate. 2) It remains still unclear what frequency of somatic mutations correlate with the generation of reliable and targetable neoantigens and ultimately what percentage of human cancers contain candidate neoantigens for successful immune targeting.

## 7. Impact of MMR on the tumor microenvironment (TME): The interplay between cancer genetics and cancer immunology

Activation of antigen-specific T cells is a key step in immune responses, and it is provided by the interaction between the peptide-MHC complex and the T cell receptor in the presence of other co-stimulatory molecules, such as cluster of differentiation 28 (CD28), expressed on the surface of naive CD4+ and CD8+ cells (Suh et al., 2004). However, during tumor equilibrium or progression, T-cells become exhausted, with overexpression of inhibitory receptors, especially, among others, programmed cell death 1 (PD-1, CD279), cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4, CD152), lymphocyte-activation gene-3 (LAG-3), T-cell immunoglobulin domain and mucin domain-3 (TIM-3), IL-10 receptor, (Cao et al., 2007; Hathcock et al., 1993; Nishimura, Nose, Hiai, Minato, & Honjo, 1999; Zhang, Chikina, et al., 2017; Zhang, Sun, et al., 2017; Zou & Chen, 2008). CTLA-4, a CD28 homologue, competes with CD28 for binding to its cognate ligands, CD80/ 86, which are expressed on the surface of antigen-presenting dendritic cells (APCs) (Gardner, Jeffery, & Sansom, 2014). CTLA-4 acts earlier in the process of T-cell activation, in contrast PD-1 molecule plays a role later in the response after activation, by attenuating T-cell responses following migration of T cells to the TME, rendering T-cell dysfunctional and maintaining the exhausted T cell phenotype (Topalian, Drake, & Pardoll, 2012). Thereby PD-1 signaling limits the activity of T cells during inflammatory responses in order to prevent excessive host tissue damage (Naboush, Roman, & Shapira, 2017). This signaling is activated by its ligands, programmed cell death ligand (PD-L) 1 (B7-H1, CD274) and PD-L2 (B7-DC, CD273). While PD-L2 is exclusively expressed on activated dendritic cells and macrophages, PD-L1 has a broad tissue distribution including tumor cells and is induced by inflammatory mediators (e.g. IFN-c, lipopolysaccharides, GM-CSF, IL-4 and IL-10) (Dong et al., 2002).

A rapidly increasing body of evidence demonstrates the interdependence of DNA MMR and immune microenvironment. Here we provide a picture of the correlation between MMR status, PD-L1 expression and TME characteristics in CRC, EC and GC, with some insights on how to potentially translate these findings into clinical practice.

#### 7.1. CRC

High numbers of TILs represent a common hallmark of MSI CRC and it is a validated stage-independent predictor of increased survival in patients with CRC. dMMR/MSI-H CRC naturally attract TILs through the upregulation of the integrin molecule CD103 on CD8 + T cells. Moreover, a higher expression of immune activating molecules as well as increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules in tumoral DC, which serves for a proper T cell activation, and a dense CD4 + T cell infiltration is also reported in MSI-H but not MSS CRC. This is consistent with finding from gene expression profiles analysis consistently showing an upregulation of genes linked to immune responses and interleukin pathways (Muzny et al., 2012). Llosa and colleagues recently refined these observations demonstrating that the active immune microenvironment in MSI-H CRC is counterbalanced by immune inhibitory signals. Indeed, they demonstrated an upregulation in several immune checkpoint ligands, including PD-1, PDL1, CTLA- 4, LAG-3, FOXp3 and Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase-1 (IDO1) (Llosa et al., 2015).

Some other studies reported higher PD-L1 expression in dMMR CRCs than in pMMR ones (Gentles et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016; Lee, Kwak, et al., 2017; Lee, McNulty, et al., 2017; Li et al., 2016). However other authors have reached different conclusion (Masugi et al., 2017). This heterogeneity can be explained the different tumor compartments expressing PD-L1 studied (tumor cells versus TILs). Llosa et al. were among the first to demonstrate that in MSI-H CRC, the PD-L1 expression appears not to be on tumor cells, as commonly seen in melanoma or NSCLC, but on TILs and/or myeloid cells (Llosa et al., 2015). Subsequent studies have confirmed these finding. A recent study analyzing only stage I-III CRC patients demonstrated that dMMR CRC have an increased density of CD3+ (P < 0.01), CD45R0+ (P < 0.05) and CD8+ (P < 0.071) T lymphocytes positively associated with survival (Park & Cheung, 2017). Zhang et al. showed that the number of CD8 + T cells in the stroma and in the invasive front, but not within the tumor, was greater in the dMMR group than in the pMMR (P = 0.017 for TIL and stroma; P = 0.038 for invasive front) (Zhang, Chikina, et al., 2017; Zhang, Sun, et al., 2017). Le Flahec et al. analyzed the immune environment in dMMR and pMMR CRCs, considering all stages, and they also showed that immune cells (CD3+ and CD8+) were significantly more numerous in the stroma and at the invasion margin in dMMR tumors (Le Flahec et al., 2018). Discrepant data have been reported about the expression of regulatory T cells (Tregs). Tregs may inhibit anti-tumor immune responses, by suppression of CTLs and a higher ratio of CD8+T cells to Tregs correlates with better outcome in CRC. Although not statistical significant, Llosa et al., observed higher Foxp3 + cell infiltrates, representative of Treg, in tumor stroma and the invasive front in MSI-H compared with MSS tumors (Llosa et al., 2015). Opposite results were reported by other studies (Le Gouvello et al., 2008; Maby, Galon, & Latouche, 2016).

## 7.2. EC

Data available are consistent with finding in CRC and showed that dMMR EC are characterized by a greater numbers of TILs and increased neoantigen production generated by frameshift mutations acquired from MSI, as well as an increased PD-L1 expression (Sloan, Ring, Willis, Modesitt, & Mills, 2017).

In this regard, one of the largest series has been published by Howitt et al., which showed a median neoantigen load per sample of 541 in MSI tumors versus 70.5 in MSS tumors. Similarly, MSI ECs had significantly higher numbers of CD3+ and CD8+ TILs compared to MSS ECs. However, this positive feature were counterbalanced by PD-1 and PD-L1 overexpression in intraepithelial immune cells and peritumoral lymphocytes ("marginal" or "infiltrating edge" pattern of expression) with no cases of extensive membranous tumor cells staining among MSI cancers (Howitt et al., 2015). Sloan et al. confirmed these findings (Sloan et al., 2017). Loss of MSH6 IHC expression and germline confirmed MSH6 mutations were particularly associated with tumoral PD-L1 expression. This is notable in EC, where MSH6 mutations account for a higher proportion of germline mutations compared with CRC.

## 7.3. GC

Kim et al. evaluated the expression status of PD-L1 in MSI-H and MSS GC samples based on four different cut-off values (1%, 5%, 10%, and 50%), and found a higher expression of PD-L1 in tumor cells and immune cells in MSI-H GCs (Kim et al., 2017). Other studies yielded corroborative results, demonstrating that PD-L1 positivity was more frequent in MSI-H than in MSS GC, either in tumor cells or in TILs along with a strong

association between PD-L1 expression and high densities of TILs (CD8 +, CD3+, FOXp3+ and CD4+ T cells).

These studies have answered some crucial questions but have also raised new ones. First, it has recently been reported that PD-L1 expression in frequently discordant between surgically resected and matched biopsy specimens (the overall discordance rate in the study was 48%), primarily due to the lack of PDL1-positive TILs components in matched biopsies (Ilie et al., 2016), thus spatial heterogeneity could result in significant sampling bias and should be taken into account.

Second, a lot of discrepancies exist in term of IHC assay to analyze PD-1/PD-L1 expression, the cutoff used to consider it positive, as well as the assay used to evaluate MMR status, making it difficult a comparison among different studies.

However, important lessons can be learned by these observations. Although MSI-H tumors have an increased number of TILs, and a higher expression of immune checkpoint molecules, as consequence of many immunogenic neoantigens produced by frameshift mutations, mounting evidence exist that not all dMMR harbor dense infiltration of TILs, nor all express a high level of PD-1/L1. The biological meaning of these differential expression patterns is still unknown and might imply an exquisitely complex interplay involving both genetic and immunological variables and further studies are needed to better define the impact of MMR on the tumor immune contexture.

## 8. The genomic landscape of cancers shapes response to anti-PD-1 therapy

After many decades of development, immunotherapy is becoming a pillar of cancer therapy (Pardoll, 2012), with the great promise to prevent recurrence and prolong survival via the long-term memory function of the adaptive immune system (Brahmer et al., 2012; Le et al., 2015; Topalian, Hodi, et al., 2012).

In MSI-H tumors highly increased mutation rates and expression of immunogenic frameshift neopeptides set the stage for this responsiveness. In fact, these features positively coincide with extensive infiltration of the tumor by activated neoantigen-specific cytotoxic and T helper cells, resulting in an anti-tumor immune response. However, as showed above, the tumor itself creates an immunosuppressive microenvironment that blocks immunological action despite this recognition (Llosa et al., 2015). Reversal of this negative control with ICIs is an alternative approach to elicit efficacious immune responses to cancer.

The first prospective evaluation of dMMR/MSI-H as a predictive biomarker for PD-1 inhibition was reported in 2015 (KEYNOTE-016). The first results were reported on 11 patients with dMMR CRC, 21 with pMMR CRC, and 9 with dMMR non-CRC (4 ampullary or cholangiocarcinomas, 2 ECs, 2 small bowel carcinomas, and 1 GC) treated with pembrolizumab, a humanized monoclonal immunoglobulin (Ig) G4 antibody, and showed a significant difference in clinical response, based on MSI status, with 40% and 71% in overall response rate (ORR) in dMMR CRC and dMMR non-CRC, versus 0% in pMMR CRC, as well as in the PFS rate (78%, 67%, and 11%, respectively) (Le et al., 2017). In May 2017, the FDA granted accelerated approval to pembrolizumab for refractory, adult and pediatric, dMMR/MSI-H tumors including dMMR/MSI-H metastatic CRC. Data from 5 clinical trials and 149 patients supported the FDA label. In addition to patients from the KEYNOTE-016 (NCT01876511, N = 58), data were used from KEY-NOTE-164 (NCT02460198, N = 61) (Le et al., 2016), KEYNOTE-012 (NCT01848834, N = 6) (Seiwert et al., 2016), KEYNOTE-028 (NCT02054806, N = 5), and KEYNOTE-158 (NCT02628067, N = 19) trials (Schellens et al., 2017). Ninety patients had CRC and 59 had other non-CRCs, including EC, biliary cancer, GC, pancreatic cancer, small intestinal cancer, breast cancer, prostate cancer, bladder cancer, esophageal cancer, sarcoma, thyroid cancer, retroperitoneal adenocarcinoma, small cell lung cancer, and renal cell cancer. Taken together, the efficacy analysis showed an ORR of 39.6% (95% CI: 31.7, 47.9) complete response (CR) rate of 7.4% (N = 11) and a partial response (PR) rate of 32.2% (N = 48). Specifically, the ORR was 36% in CRC patients (95% CI: 26%, 46%) and 46% in non–CRC patients. (95% CI: 33%, 59%). At the time of data cutoff, median duration of response had not yet been reached (range 1.6+ to 22.7+ months). Among responders, 78% had responses of 6 months or greater. These data led to the presumption that MSI-H phenotype can be a surrogate, pan-cancer, genetic biomarker of distinct subsets of tumors which predict for response to immunotherapy, regardless of tumor histology. Importantly, this is the first histology agnostic FDA approval.

The follow-up data about the clinical trial KEYNOTE-016 were recently reported (ClinicalTrials.gov number NCT01876511) (Le et al., 2017). In a total of eighty patients treated, with a median follow-up time of 12.5 months, we observed ORR in 53% (52% in CRC and 54% in non-CRC) [95% CI, 42 to 64%], with 21% achieving a CR. Neither median PFS nor median OS were reached.

Subsequently, Overman and colleagues provided further evidence for the use of PD-1 inhibitors in chemo-refractory, dMMR/MSI-H mCRC by reporting the outcome of patients treated with nivolumab, a fully human immunoglobulin G4 monoclonal antibody inhibitor of PD-1, in the multicenter, CheckMate 142 phase 2 trial. Patients received nivolumab 3 mg/kg every 14 days or nivolumab plus ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) 1 mg/kg every 21 days for four doses followed by nivolumab 3 mg/kg every 14 days until progression (Overman et al., 2017). In the monotherapy cohort, the ORR was 31.3% (95% CI 20.8-42.9), thus achieving the primary endpoint of the study. Nivolumab provided sustained disease control (disease control rate  $\geq$  12 weeks, 69%), PFS rates of 54% and 50% (at 9 and 12 months respectively), and OS rates of 78% and 73% at 9 months and 12 months. Based on these results, nivolumab was approved in the United States for the treatment of adult and pediatric (age  $\geq$  12 years) patients with dMMR/MSI-H mCRC who progressed after treatment with a fluoropyrimidines, oxaliplatin, and irinotecan. Longer-term follow up of the CheckMate-142 trial, as presented at the 2018 Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium, continues to support the use of nivolumab monotherapy in previously treated dMMR/MSI-H CRC (Overman et al., 2018). At a median follow-up of 21 months, the ORR was 34%, with 9% CRs. The median PFS was 6.6 months and the median OS was not reached.

These data formed the nidus for the hypothesis that nivolumab would also have activity in dMMR non-CRC. The NCI's landmark Molecular Analysis for Therapy Choice (NCI-MATCH) launched a trial of nivolumab in patients with dMMR solid tumor. Preliminary results from the first 35 patients treated and followed for at least 6 months were presented during the 2018 Annual Meeting of the Society of Immunotherapy for Cancer. The most common histologies among these patients were endometrioid EC (10 patients), prostate cancer (6 patients), and breast cancer (3 patients). MMR deficiency was defined through IHC as loss of nuclear expression of MLH1 or MSH2. CRC patients were excluded. The study met its primary endpoint: the confirmed ORR rate was 24%, and an additional 27% of patients had stable disease. The 6-month PFS was 49% (Azad et al., 2017).

The combination of nivolumab plus ipilimumab, a fully human immunoglobulin G1 monoclonal antibody that targets CTLA-4 checkpoint receptor, has shown to be synergistic both in preclinical and clinical settings, as the combination is approved for the treatment of metastatic melanoma and is under investigation in the aforementioned phase 2, non-randomized, CheckMate-142, in dMMR/MSI-H mCRC.

The preliminary results of the trial for the combination cohort were recently reported after a median duration of follow-up 13.4 month, demonstrating a manageable safety profile and very interesting clinical activity. At the data cutoff, 119 patients with dMMR/MSI-H mCRC were treated and 63% of patients were still receiving treatment. An objective response was achieved in 54.6% (95% CI, 45.2 to 63.8) per investigator assessment, including 3.4% CR. Responses were durable, with 83% of responders lasting  $\geq$ 6 months. Disease control > 12 weeks was achieved in 80% (95% CI, 71.5 to 86.6) of patients. Median PFS and OS were not reached, while 12-month PFS rates was 71% (95% CI, 61.4 to 78.7) and

|--|

Examples of correlat	on between TMB e	evaluated by WES	and MMR status	in solid tumors.

Tumor type	Hypermutation definition based on mutation rate	Comments about MSI status	Ref.
Colon cancer	>12 per Mb (median number of total mutations 728)	75% of the hypermutated tumors were MSI	Muzny et al. (2012)
Gastric cancer	>11.4 mutations per Mb	None of the MSS tumors presented a hypermutated phenotype	Bass et al. (2014)
Endometrial cancer	$18 \times 10^{-6}$ mutations per Mb	The MSI endometrioid tumors had a mutation frequency almost tenfold greater than MSS ones	Kandoth et al. (2013)
Biliary	>11.13 per Mb (median number of non-silent mutations 641)	36% hypermutated tumors harbored a mutation in MMR components	Nakamura et al. (2015)
Glioblastoma	>100 exonic mutations	All tumors were bMMRD and were hypermutated	Bouffet et al. (2016)
Glioma	>20 mutations per 1.4 Mb	54.5% of hypermutated tumors exhibited at least one mutated MMR gene.	Hodges et al. (2017)
Melanoma	>100 mutations per tumor	No association with MMR reported	Snyder et al. (2014)
Lung cancer	≥179 mutations per tumor	MSH2 mutation found in 1 of the 14 patients who had hypermutated tumor and durable clinical benefit to pembrolizumab	Collisson et al. (2014)

bMMRD, biallelic mismatch repair deficiency; Mb, megabase; MMR, mismatch repair: MSI, microsatellite instability; Ref., reference; TMB, tumor mutation burden; WES, whole exome sequencing.

12-month OS rate was 85% (95% CI, 77.0 to 90.2), respectively (Overman et al., 2018).

The important caveat is that CheckMate-142 is a non-randomized phase 2 clinical trial, thus non-intended for comparison of monotherapy to combination therapy. Further randomized studies are warranted to identify potential subgroup of patients more likely to benefit from the combination therapy, as well as it would be important to clarify if the long-term effect of the combination therapy is superior to the monotherapy.

Moreover, evaluation of anti-PD-1 in first line setting is also ongoing (KEYNOTE 177, NCT02563002).

This growing body of research has paved a path for ICI as novel strategies across a range of solid tumors with MMR deficiency, independent of their histologies, but exclusively dependent on a strong relationship between cancer genetics, immune system and therapeutics and several clinical trials are underway (Table 3). We strongly believe that MMR/ MSI testing can no longer be considered solely as a screening test to for genetic susceptibility or treatment selection in early-stage CRC but should now be routinely offered to a majority of patients with metastatic cancers, regardless of the site and the histology.

# 9. MMR deficiency, mutational burden and checkpoint inhibitors in pediatric cancers

The excitement around immunotherapy as a means for durable disease response for dMMR cancer treatment has extended to the pediatric population as well (Majzner, Heitzeneder, & Mackall, 2017). However, efficacy of anti PD-1 antibodies, and their approval for pediatric patients with MSI-H cancers, were extrapolated from the results in the adult MSI-H population (Davis, Agarwal, & Verma, 2017; van Dam, de Zwart, & Meyer-Wentrup, 2015).

Biallelic mismatch repair deficiency (bMMRD syndrome) results from germline-inactivating mutations in DNA MMR genes (Majzner et al., 2017; Tabori et al., 2017). The mode of inheritance is consistent with an autosomal recessive pattern, caused by biallelic mutations that can involve any of the MMR genes (MSH2, MLH1, MSH6, and PMS2). The most commonly involved genes are PMS2 and MSH6, whereas MSH2 and MLH1 mutations are rare, in contrast to the genetic pattern most commonly seen in LS (Bakry et al., 2014). The hallmark of the disease is its high penetrance rate, and very early onset (median age 7.5 years) (Bodo et al., 2015; Lavoine et al., 2015). The spectrum of tumors observed in bMMRD is distinct from LS-related one: the most common malignancies are malignant brain tumors, followed by gastrointestinal and hematologic malignancies. Loss of the MMR protein in both malignant and normal cells assessed by IHC is highly suggestive for a diagnosis of bMMRD and guides subsequent confirmation by mutation analysis in the four MMR genes. Importantly, contrary to LS tumors diagnosis, MSI is not a sensitive nor specific tool for bMMRD diagnosis, especially in non-gastrointestinal cancers (Bodo et al., 2015). Regardless of the origin (sporadic, LS-related, or bMMRD-related) pediatric dMMR tumors, share a common tumor phenotype and therapeutic challenges, since several chemotherapeutic agents, frequently used in pediatric malignancies treatment, require adequate MMR to exert their tumor damage, such as mercaptopurine and temozolomide (Karran & Attard, 2008). On the other hand, exciting emerging data of immune-based therapies may result in uniquely designed protocols for the management of dMMR cancers, also in the pediatric setting.

A case report of nivolumab administration to two siblings, pediatric patients with GBM with hereditary bMMRD demonstrate impressive antitumor effects with complete radiological resolution of tumors in both patients. No severe treatment-related side effects were observed, except for transient seizures early in the treatment course, possibly GBM-related (Bouffet et al., 2016). Moreover, they investigated the mutational landscape in this rare syndrome and reported that bMMRD pediatric GBM have a significantly higher mutational load than sporadic pediatric and all other brain tumors (P < 0.001). They showed that this is related to an impressive high mean neoantigen loads, which is seven to 16 times higher than those in melanomas, lung cancers, or MSI-H gastrointestinal cancers (P < 0.001) (Bouffet et al., 2016; Shlien et al., 2015). These results may have implications for treatment of dMMR pediatric cancers. Viana-Pereira et al. have reported that 19% of high-grade glioma samples analyzed were MSI-H, significantly higher than that seen with adult tumors (Viana-Pereira et al., 2011). While some of those patients may have had the rare congenital bMMRD syndrome, dMMR may also arise independently outside of this defined cancer predisposition. The role of ICIs is now being actively tested in children with bMMRD (NCT02992964). However, the safety and effectiveness of ICIs in pediatric patients with MSI-H cancers have not been established and up to date there has been less experience with these approaches in this population. Future research is needed to better understand the clinical effects, the benefits and the potential short and longterm side effects of these therapies in the pediatric setting.

## 10. Conclusions and future perspectives

In this review we demonstrated that the evaluation of DNA MMR in solid tumors and the identification of dMMR has increasing clinical applications, serving as prognostic and predictive biomarkers for chemotherapy and immune-based therapies, while remaining the cornerstone for the diagnosis of LS.

From a diagnostic point of view, the current method of detecting MSI/MMR deficiency have been optimized for CRCs, and whether these techniques can be applied in all tumor types, is still not fully understood. Upon the recent first FDA tissue/site agnostic drug approval of pembrolizumab for advanced, metastatic MSI-H tumors, examining microsatellites in multiple gene sequencing routinely included in NGS panels could become a screening method for MSI.

We showed that dMMR/MSI-H cancers are biologically marked by genomic instability, a high mutation burden and the potential for high numbers of neoantigens, which can be observed histologically by a high numbers of TILs compared to pMMR cancers. These features predict response to immunotherapy. However, even among dMMR patients, there are non-responders to immune therapy, arising the urgent need to develop more robust predictive biomarkers (e.g. TMB) to be evaluated together. More importantly, MSI accounts only for the minority of cancers, thus extending the benefit of immunotherapy to a wider, MSS, population is the next and more difficult challenge.

Nevertheless, the reciprocal interplay between cancer genetics and cancer immunology is likely far more pervasive then what we know so far, and investigations in this field will reveal new insights into the mechanisms of how tumor intrinsic molecular alterations influence the TME.

Despite all these challenges, our increasing understanding of these complex interactions will open new innovative diagnostic and therapeutic avenues.

## **Conflict of interest statement**

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

### References

- Aaltonen, L. A., Peltomaki, P., Leach, F. S., Sistonen, P., Pylkkanen, L., Mecklin, J. P., et al. (1993). Clues to the pathogenesis of familial colorectal cancer. *Science 260*, 812–816.
- Aaltonen, L. A., Salovaara, R., Kristo, P., Canzian, F., Hemminki, A., Peltomaki, P., et al. (1998). Incidence of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer and the feasibility of molecular screening for the disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 338, 1481–1487.
- Adam, R., Spier, I., Zhao, B., Kloth, M., Marquez, J., Hinrichsen, I., et al. (2016). Exome sequencing identifies Biallelic MSH3 germline mutations as a recessive subtype of colorectal adenomatous polyposis. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 99, 337–351.
- Andre, T., de Gramont, A., Vernerey, D., Chibaudel, B., Bonnetain, F., Tijeras-Raballand, A., et al. (2015). Adjuvant fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin in stage II to III colon cancer: Updated 10-year survival and outcomes according to BRAF mutation and mismatch repair status of the MOSAIC study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 33, 4176–4187.
- Arana, M. E., & Kunkel, T. A. (2010). Mutator phenotypes due to DNA replication infidelity. Seminars in Cancer Biology 20, 304–311.
- Ashktorab, H., Ahuja, S., Kannan, L., Llor, X., Ellis, N. A., Xicola, R. M., et al. (2016). A metaanalysis of MSI frequency and race in colorectal cancer. Oncotarget 7, 34546–34557.
- Azad, N., Overman, M., Gray, R., Schoenfeld, J., Arteaga, C., Coffey, B., et al. (2017). Nivolumab in mismatch-repair deficient (MMR-d) cancers: NCI-MATCH trial (molecular analysis for therapy choice) arm Z1D preliminary results. Presented at: 32nd SITC annual meeting; November 9–12, 2017; National Harbor, MD (Abstract O37).
- Bacher, J. W., Flanagan, L. A., Smalley, R. L., Nassif, N. A., Burgart, L. J., Halberg, R. B., et al. (2004). Development of a fluorescent multiplex assay for detection of MSI-high tumors. *Disease Markers 20*, 237–250.
- Bakry, D., Aronson, M., Durno, C., Rimawi, H., Farah, R., Alharbi, Q. K., et al. (2014). Genetic and clinical determinants of constitutional mismatch repair deficiency syndrome: Report from the constitutional mismatch repair deficiency consortium. *European Journal* of Cancer 50, 987–996.
- Barratt, P. L., Seymour, M. T., Stenning, S. P., Georgiades, I., Walker, C., Birbeck, K., et al. (2002). DNA markers predicting benefit from adjuvant fluorouracil in patients with colon cancer: A molecular study. *Lancet* 360, 1381–1391.
- Bartley, A. N., Luthra, R., Saraiya, D. S., Urbauer, D. L., & Broaddus, R. R. (2012). Identification of cancer patients with Lynch syndrome: Clinically significant discordances and problems in tissue-based mismatch repair testing. *Cancer Prevention Research* (*Philadelphia*, Pa.) 5, 320–327.
- Bass, A. J., Thorsson, V., Shmulevich, I., Reynolds, S. M., Miller, M., Bernard, B., et al., & Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network(2014). Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. *Nature* 513, 202–209.
- Baudhuin, L. M., Burgart, L. J., Leontovich, O., & Thibodeau, S. N. (2005). Use of microsatellite instability and immunohistochemistry testing for the identification of individuals at risk for Lynch syndrome. *Familial Cancer* 4, 255–265.
- Bebenek, K., & Kunkel, T. A. (2004). Functions of DNA polymerases. Advances in Protein Chemistry 69, 137–165.
- Berg, K. D., Glaser, C. L., Thompson, R. E., Hamilton, S. R., Griffin, C. A., & Eshleman, J. R. (2000). Detection of microsatellite instability by fluorescence multiplex polymerase chain reaction. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics 2*, 20–28.
- Bertagnolli, M. M., Niedzwiecki, D., Compton, C. C., Hahn, H. P., Hall, M., Damas, B., et al. (2009). Microsatellite instability predicts improved response to adjuvant therapy with irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin in stage III colon cancer: Cancer and leukemia group B protocol 89803. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 27, 1814–1821.
- Bodo, S., Colas, C., Buhard, O., Collura, A., Tinat, J., Lavoine, N., et al. (2015). Diagnosis of constitutional mismatch repair-deficiency syndrome based on microsatellite instability and lymphocyte tolerance to methylating agents. *Gastroenterology* 149(1017–29), e3.

- Boland, C. R., Thibodeau, S. N., Hamilton, S. R., Sidransky, D., Eshleman, J. R., Burt, R. W., et al. (1998). A National Cancer Institute Workshop on Microsatellite Instability for cancer detection and familial predisposition: Development of international criteria for the determination of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Research* 58, 5248–5257.
- Bonneville, R., Krook, M. A., Kautto, E. A., Miya, J., Wing, M. R., & Chen, H. Z. (2017). Landscape of Microsatellite Instability Across 39 Cancer Types. JCO Precision Oncology 1, 1–15.
- Bouffet, E., Larouche, V., Campbell, B. B., Merico, D., de Borja, R., Aronson, M., et al. (2016). Immune checkpoint inhibition for hypermutant glioblastoma multiforme resulting from germline Biallelic mismatch repair deficiency. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 34, 2206–2211.
- Brahmer, J. R., Tykodi, S. S., Chow, L. Q., Hwu, W. J., Topalian, S. L., Hwu, P., et al. (2012). Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 366, 2455–2465.
- Buhard, O., Suraweera, N., Lectard, A., Duval, A., & Hamelin, R. (2004). Quasimonomorphic mononucleotide repeats for high-level microsatellite instability analysis. *Disease Markers* 20, 251–257.
- Burger, M., Denzinger, S., Hammerschmied, C. G., Tannapfel, A., Obermann, E. C., Wieland, W., et al. (2006). Elevated microsatellite alterations at selected tetranucleotides (EMAST) and mismatch repair gene expression in prostate cancer. *Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany)* 10, 833–841.
- Cai, S. J., Xu, Y., Cai, G. X., Lian, P., Guan, Z. Q., Mo, S. J., et al. (2003). Clinical characteristics and diagnosis of patients with hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. World Journal of Gastroenterology 9, 284–287.
- Cairns, S. R., Scholefield, J. H., Steele, R. J., Dunlop, M. G., Thomas, H. J., Evans, G. D., et al. (2010). Guidelines for colorectal cancer screening and surveillance in moderate and high risk groups (update from 2002). *Gut* 59, 666–689.
- Campanella, N. C., Scapulatempo-Neto, C., Abrahao-Machado, L. F., Torres De Oliveira, A. T. , Berardinelli, G. N., Guimaraes, D. P., et al. (2017). Lack of microsatellite instability in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Oncology Letters* 14, 5221–5228.
- Campbell, B. B., Light, N., Fabrizio, D., Zatzman, M., Fuligni, F., de Borja, R., et al. (2017). Comprehensive analysis of hypermutation in human cancer. *Cell* 171(1042–56), e10.
- Cao, E., Zang, X., Ramagopal, U. A., Mukhopadhaya, A., Fedorov, A., Fedorov, E., et al. (2007). T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3 crystal structure reveals a galectin-9-independent ligand-binding surface. *Immunity* 26, 311–321.
- Catto, J. W., Xinarianos, G., Burton, J. L., Meuth, M., & Hamdy, F. C. (2003). Differential expression of hMLH1 and hMSH2 is related to bladder cancer grade, stage and prognosis but not microsatellite instability. *International Journal of Cancer 105*, 484–490.
- Chalmers, Z. R., Connelly, C. F., Fabrizio, D., Gay, L., Ali, S. M., Ennis, R., et al. (2017). Analysis of 100,000 human cancer genomes reveals the landscape of tumor mutational burden. *Genome Medicine* 9, 34.
- Chang, D. K., Metzgar, D., Wills, C., & Boland, C. R. (2001). Microsatellites in the eukaryotic DNA mismatch repair genes as modulators of evolutionary mutation rate. *Genome Research* 11, 1145–1146.
- Chang, L., Chang, M., Chang, H. M., & Chang, F. (2017, Feb). Microsatellite instability: A predictive biomarker for cancer immunotherapy. *Applied Immunohistochemistry & Molecular Morphology* 26(2), e15–e21 (doi: 10.1097).
- Chen, S., Wang, W., Lee, S., Nafa, K., Lee, J., Romans, K., et al. (2006). Prediction of germline mutations and cancer risk in the Lynch syndrome. JAMA 296, 1479–1487.
- Cheng, D. T., Mitchell, T. N., Zehir, A., Shah, R. H., Benayed, R., Syed, A., et al. (2015). Memorial Sloan Kettering-integrated mutation profiling of actionable cancer targets (MSK-IMPACT): A hybridization capture-based next-generation sequencing clinical assay for solid tumor molecular oncology. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics* 17, 251–264.
- Chiappini, F., Gross-Goupil, M., Saffroy, R., Azoulay, D., Emile, J. F., Veillhan, L. A., et al. (2004). Microsatellite instability mutator phenotype in hepatocellular carcinoma in non-alcoholic and non-virally infected normal livers. *Carcinogenesis* 25, 541–547.
- Cloyd, J. M., Chun, Y. S., Ikoma, N., Vauthey, J. N., Aloia, T. A., Cuddy, A., et al. (2017, Mar). Clinical and genetic implications of DNA mismatch repair deficiency in biliary tract cancers associated with Lynch syndrome. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Cancer* 49(1), 93–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12029-017-0040-9.
- Collisson, E. A., Campbell, J. D., Brooks, A. N., Berger, A. H., Lee, W., Chmielecki, J., et al., & Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network(2014). Comprehensive molecular profiling of lung adenocarcinoma. *Nature* 511, 543–550.
- Cortes-Ciriano, I., Lee, S., Park, W. Y., Kim, T. M., & Park, P. J. (2017). A molecular portrait of microsatellite instability across multiple cancers. *Nature Communications* 8, 15180.
- Davies, H., Bignell, G. R., Cox, C., Stephens, P., Edkins, S., Clegg, S., et al. (2002). Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. *Nature* 417, 949–954.
- Davis, K. L., Agarwal, A. M., & Verma, A. R. (2017). Checkpoint inhibition in pediatric hematologic malignancies. *Pediatric Hematology and Oncology* 34, 379–394.
- De Grassi, A., Segala, C., Iannelli, F., Volorio, S., Bertario, L., Radice, P., et al. (2010). Ultradeep sequencing of a human ultraconserved region reveals somatic and constitutional genomic instability. *PLoS Biology 8*, e1000275.
- de la Chapelle, A., & Hampel, H. (2010). Clinical relevance of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 28, 3380–3387.
- Diaz, L. A., Jr., & Le, D. T. (2015). PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. The New England Journal of Medicine 373, 1979.
- Diaz-Padilla, I., Romero, N., Amir, E., Matias-Guiu, X., Vilar, E., Muggia, F., et al. (2013). Mismatch repair status and clinical outcome in endometrial cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology 88, 154–167.
- Dinh, T. A., Rosner, B. I., Atwood, J. C., Boland, C. R., Syngal, S., Vasen, H. F., et al. (2011). Health benefits and cost-effectiveness of primary genetic screening for Lynch syndrome in the general population. *Cancer Prevention Research (Philadelphia, Pa.)* 4, 9–22.

- Domingo, E., Laiho, P., Ollikainen, M., Pinto, M., Wang, L., French, A. J., et al. (2004). BRAF screening as a low-cost effective strategy for simplifying HNPCC genetic testing. *Journal of Medical Genetics* 41, 664–668.
- Dong, H., Strome, S. E., Salomao, D. R., Tamura, H., Hirano, F., Flies, D. B., et al. (2002). Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: A potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nature Medicine* 8, 793–800.
- Drake, J. W., Charlesworth, B., Charlesworth, D., & Crow, J. F. (1998). Rates of spontaneous mutation. *Genetics* 148, 1667–1686.
- Dudley, J. C., Lin, M. T., Le, D. T., & Eshleman, J. R. (2016). Microsatellite instability as a biomarker for PD-1 blockade. *Clinical Cancer Research* 22, 813–820.
- Eshleman, J. R., & Markowitz, S. D. (1996). Mismatch repair defects in human carcinogenesis. Human Molecular Genetics 5 (Spec No: 1489-94).
- Faulkner, R. D., Seedhouse, C. H., Das-Gupta, E. P., & Russell, N. H. (2004). BAT-25 and BAT-26, two mononucleotide microsatellites, are not sensitive markers of microsatellite instability in acute myeloid leukaemia. *British Journal of Haematology* 124, 160–165.
- Fearon, E. R., & Vogelstein, B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 61, 759–767.
- Findeisen, P., Kloor, M., Merx, S., Sutter, C., Woerner, S. M., Dostmann, N., et al. (2005). T25 repeat in the 3' untranslated region of the CASP2 gene: A sensitive and specific marker for microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Research* 65, 8072–8078.
- Fishel, R., Lescoe, M. K., Rao, M. R., Copeland, N. G., Jenkins, N. A., Garber, J., et al. (1993). The human mutator gene homolog MSH2 and its association with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer. *Cell* 75, 1027–1038.
- Forgacs, E., Wren, J. D., Kamibayashi, C., Kondo, M., Xu, X. L., Markowitz, S., et al. (2001). Searching for microsatellite mutations in coding regions in lung, breast, ovarian and colorectal cancers. *Oncogene* 20, 1005–1009.
- French, A. J., Sargent, D. J., Burgart, L. J., Foster, N. R., Kabat, B. F., Goldberg, R., et al. (2008). Prognostic significance of defective mismatch repair and BRAF V600E in patients with colon cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research* 14, 3408–3415.
- Fujiyoshi, K., Yamamoto, G., Takahashi, A., Arai, Y., Yamada, M., Kakuta, M., et al. (2017). High concordance rate of KRAS/BRAF mutations and MSI-H between primary colorectal cancer and corresponding metastases. *Oncology Reports* 37, 785–792.
- Funkhouser, W. K., Jr., Lubin, I. M., Monzon, F. A., Zehnbauer, B. A., Evans, J. P., Ogino, S., et al. (2012). Relevance, pathogenesis, and testing algorithm for mismatch repair-defective colorectal carcinomas: A report of the association for molecular pathology. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics* 14, 91–103.
- Gardner, D., Jeffery, L. E., & Sansom, D. M. (2014). Understanding the CD28/CTLA-4 (CD152) pathway and its implications for costimulatory blockade. *American Journal* of *Transplantation* 14, 1985–1991.
- Gavin, P. G., Colangelo, L. H., Fumagalli, D., Tanaka, N., Remillard, M. Y., Yothers, G., et al. (2012). Mutation profiling and microsatellite instability in stage II and III colon cancer: An assessment of their prognostic and oxaliplatin predictive value. *Clinical Cancer Research* 18, 6531–6541.
- Genschel, J., Littman, S. J., Drummond, J. T., & Modrich, P. (1998). Isolation of MutSbeta from human cells and comparison of the mismatch repair specificities of MutSbeta and MutSalpha. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273, 19895–19901.
- Gentles, A. J., Newman, A. M., Liu, C. L., Bratman, S. V., Feng, W., Kim, D., et al. (2015). The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers. *Nature Medicine* 21, 938–945.
- Germano, G., Lamba, S., Rospo, G., Barault, L., Magri, A., Maione, F., et al. (2017). Inactivation of DNA repair triggers neoantigen generation and impairs tumour growth. *Nature 552*, 116–120.
- Glavac, D., Volavsek, M., Potocnik, U., Ravnik-Glavac, M., & Gale, N. (2003). Low microsatellite instability and high loss of heterozygosity rates indicate dominant role of the suppressor pathway in squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck and loss of heterozygosity of 11q14.3 correlates with tumor grade. *Cancer Genetics and Cytogenetics* 146, 27–32.
- Greenman, C., Stephens, P., Smith, R., Dalgliesh, G. L., Hunter, C., Bignell, G., et al. (2007). Patterns of somatic mutation in human cancer genomes. *Nature* 446, 153–158.
- Greenson, J. K., Bonner, J. D., Ben-Yzhak, O., Cohen, H. I., Miselevich, I., Resnick, M. B., et al. (2003). Phenotype of microsatellite unstable colorectal carcinomas: Well-differentiated and focally mucinous tumors and the absence of dirty necrosis correlate with microsatellite instability. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology* 27, 563–570.
- Gryfe, R., Kim, H., Hsieh, E. T., Aronson, M. D., Holowaty, E. J., Bull, S. B., et al. (2000). Tumor microsatellite instability and clinical outcome in young patients with colorectal cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 342, 69–77.
- Guastadisegni, C., Colafranceschi, M., Ottini, L., & Dogliotti, E. (2010). Microsatellite instability as a marker of prognosis and response to therapy: A meta-analysis of colorectal cancer survival data. *European Journal of Cancer* 46, 2788–2798.
- Hampel, H., Frankel, W. L., Martin, E., Arnold, M., Khanduja, K., Kuebler, P., et al. (2005). Screening for the Lynch syndrome (hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer). *The New England Journal of Medicine* 352, 1851–1860.
- Haraldsdottir, S., Hampel, H., Tomsic, J., Frankel, W. L., Pearlman, R., de la Chapelle, A., et al. (2014). Colon and endometrial cancers with mismatch repair deficiency can arise from somatic, rather than germline, mutations. *Gastroenterology* 147 (1308–16), e1.
- Haraldsdottir, S., Roth, R., Pearlman, R., Hampel, H., Arnold, C. A., & Frankel, W. L. (2016). Mismatch repair deficiency concordance between primary colorectal cancer and corresponding metastasis. *Familial Cancer* 15, 253–260.
- Hathcock, K. S., Laszlo, G., Dickler, H. B., Bradshaw, J., Linsley, P., & Hodes, R. J. (1993). Identification of an alternative CTLA-4 ligand costimulatory for T cell activation. *Science* 262, 905–907.
- Hause, R. J., Pritchard, C. C., Shendure, J., & Salipante, S. J. (2016). Classification and characterization of microsatellite instability across 18 cancer types. *Nature Medicine 22*, 1342–1350.

- Heby, M., Lundgren, S., Elebro, J., Nodin, B., Eberhard, J., & Jirstrom, K. (2018). Relationship between mismatch repair status and long-term survival in patients with resected periampullary adenocarcinoma. 2018 gastrointestinal cancer symposium (abstr.).
- Hechtman, J. F., Middha, S., Stadler, Z. K., Zehir, A., Berger, M. F., Vakiani, E., et al. (2017). Universal screening for microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer in the clinical genomics era: New recommendations, methods, and considerations. *Familial Cancer 16*, 525–529.
- Herman, J. G., Umar, A., Polyak, K., Graff, J. R., Ahuja, N., Issa, J. P., et al. (1998). Incidence and functional consequences of hMLH1 promoter hypermethylation in colorectal carcinoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 6870–6875.
- Hodges, T. R., Ott, M., Xiu, J., Gatalica, Z., Swensen, J., Zhou, S., et al. (2017). Mutational burden, immune checkpoint expression, and mismatch repair in glioma: Implications for immune checkpoint immunotherapy. *Neuro-Oncology* 19, 1047–1057.
- Howitt, B. E., Shukla, S. A., Sholl, L. M., Ritterhouse, L. L., Watkins, J. C., Rodig, S., et al. (2015). Association of polymerase e-mutated and microsatellite-instable endometrial cancers with neoantigen load, number of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, and expression of PD-1 and PD-L1. JAMA Oncology 1, 1319–1323.
- Huang, M. N., McPherson, J. R., Cutcutache, I., Teh, B. T., Tan, P., & Rozen, S. G. (2015). MSIseq: Software for assessing microsatellite instability from catalogs of somatic mutations. *Scientific Reports* 5, 13321.
- Hunter, C., Smith, R., Cahill, D. P., Stephens, P., Stevens, C., Teague, J., et al. (2006). A hypermutation phenotype and somatic MSH6 mutations in recurrent human malignant gliomas after alkylator chemotherapy. *Cancer Research* 66, 3987–3991.
- Hutchins, G., Southward, K., Handley, K., Magill, L., Beaumont, C., Stahlschmidt, J., et al. (2011). Value of mismatch repair, KRAS, and BRAF mutations in predicting recurrence and benefits from chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 29, 1261–1270.
- Ikoma, N., Cloyd, J., Badgwell, B. D., Agnes, A., Rodriguez-Bigas, M., Ajani, J. A., et al. (2017). Clinical features and survival of gastric cancer patients with DNA mismatch repair deficiency. *Journal of Surgical Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.24926.
- Ilie, M., Long-Mira, E., Bence, C., Butori, C., Lassalle, S., Bouhlel, L., et al. (2016). Comparative study of the PD-L1 status between surgically resected specimens and matched biopsies of NSCLC patients reveal major discordances: A potential issue for anti-PD-L1 therapeutic strategies. *Annals of Oncology* 27, 147–153.
- Ionov, Y., Peinado, M. A., Malkhosyan, S., Shibata, D., & Perucho, M. (1993). Ubiquitous somatic mutations in simple repeated sequences reveal a new mechanism for colonic carcinogenesis. *Nature* 363, 558–561.

Jin, Z., & Yoon, H. H. (2016). The promise of PD-1 inhibitors in gastro-esophageal cancers: Microsatellite instability vs. PD-L1. Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology 7, 771–788.

- Jiricny, J. (2006a). The multifaceted mismatch-repair system. Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology 7, 335–346.
- Jiricny, J. (2006b). MutLalpha: At the cutting edge of mismatch repair. Cell 126, 239-241.
- Jung, J., Kang, Y., Lee, Y. J., Kim, E., Ahn, B., Lee, E., et al. (2017). Comparison of the mismatch repair system between primary and metastatic colorectal cancers using immunohistochemistry. *Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine* 51, 129–136.
- Kandoth, C., Schultz, N., Cherniack, A. D., Akbani, R., Liu, Y., Shen, H., et al., & Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network(2013). Integrated genomic characterization of endometrial carcinoma. *Nature* 497, 67–73.
- Karran, P., & Attard, N. (2008). Thiopurines in current medical practice: Molecular mechanisms and contributions to therapy-related cancer. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 8, 24–36.
- Kato, M., Takano, M., Miyamoto, M., Sasaki, N., Goto, T., Tsuda, H., et al. (2015). DNA mismatch repair-related protein loss as a prognostic factor in endometrial cancers. *Journal of Gynecologic Oncology* 26, 40–45.
- Kautto, E. A., Bonneville, R., Miya, J., Yu, L., Krook, M. A., Reeser, J. W., et al. (2017). Performance evaluation for rapid detection of pan-cancer microsatellite instability with MANTIS. Oncotarget 8, 7452–7463.
- Kim, G. P., Colangelo, L. H., Wieand, H. S., Paik, S., Kirsch, I. R., Wolmark, N., et al. (2007). Prognostic and predictive roles of high-degree microsatellite instability in colon cancer: A National Cancer Institute-National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project Collaborative Study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 25, 767–772.
- Kim, T. M., Laird, P. W., & Park, P. J. (2013). The landscape of microsatellite instability in colorectal and endometrial cancer genomes. *Cell* 155, 858–868.
- Kim, K. J., Yang, H. K., Kim, W. H., & Kang, G. H. (2017). Combined prognostic effect of PD-L1 expression and immunoscore in microsatellite-unstable advanced gastric cancers. *Oncotarget* 8(35), 58887–58902.
- Knudson, A. G., Jr. (1985). Hereditary cancer, oncogenes, and antioncogenes. Cancer Research 45, 1437–1443.
- Kolodner, R. D., Tytell, J. D., Schmeits, J. L., Kane, M. F., Gupta, R. D., Weger, J., et al. (1999). Germ-line msh6 mutations in colorectal cancer families. *Cancer Research* 59, 5068–5074.
- Koopman, M., Kortman, G. A., Mekenkamp, L., Ligtenberg, M. J., Hoogerbrugge, N., Antonini, N. F., et al. (2009). Deficient mismatch repair system in patients with sporadic advanced colorectal cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 100, 266–273.
- Kuismanen, S. A., Moisio, A. L., Schweizer, P., Truninger, K., Salovaara, R., Arola, J., et al. (2002). Endometrial and colorectal tumors from patients with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer display different patterns of microsatellite instability. *The American Journal of Pathology* 160, 1953–1958.
- Kunitomi, H., Banno, K., Yanokura, M., Takeda, T., Iijima, M., Nakamura, K., et al. (2017). New use of microsatellite instability analysis in endometrial cancer. *Oncology Letters* 14, 3297–3301.
- Kunkel, T. A., & Erie, D. A. (2005). DNA mismatch repair. Annual Review of Biochemistry 74, 681–710.
- Ladabaum, U., Wang, G., Terdiman, J., Blanco, A., Kuppermann, M., Boland, C. R., et al. (2011). Strategies to identify the Lynch syndrome among patients with colorectal cancer: A cost-effectiveness analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 155, 69–79.

- Laghi, L., Beghelli, S., Spinelli, A., Bianchi, P., Basso, G., Di Caro, G., et al. (2012). Irrelevance of microsatellite instability in the epidemiology of sporadic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *PLoS One* 7, e46002.
- Lavoine, N., Colas, C., Muleris, M., Bodo, S., Duval, A., Entz-Werle, N., et al. (2015). Constitutional mismatch repair deficiency syndrome: Clinical description in a French cohort. *Journal of Medical Genetics* 52, 770–778.
- Lazo, P. A. (1999). The molecular genetics of cervical carcinoma. British Journal of Cancer 80, 2008–2018.
- Le, D. T., Andre, T., Won Kim, T., Van Cutsem, E., Jäger, D., & Geva, R. (2016). KEYNOTE-164: Phase 2 study of pembrolizumab for patients with previously treated, microsatellite instability-high advanced colorectal carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 34 (5\_suppl), 58887–58902 TPS3631TPS3631.
- Le, D. T., Durham, J. N., Smith, K. N., Wang, H., Bartlett, B. R., Aulakh, L. K., et al. (2017). Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. *Science* 357, 409–413.
- Le, D. T., Uram, J. N., Wang, H., Bartlett, B. R., Kemberling, H., Eyring, A. D., Skora, A. D., et al. (2015). PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 372, 2509–2520.
- Le Flahec, G., Badic, B., Guibourg, B., Doucet, L., Bail, J. P., Marcorelles, P., et al. (2018). Mismatch repair-deficient colorectal cancer: A model of immunogenic and immune cellrich tumor despite nonsignificant programmed cell death ligand-1 expression in tumor cells. *Human Pathology* 72, 135–143.
- Le Gouvello, S., Bastuji-Garin, S., Aloulou, N., Mansour, H., Chaumette, M. T., Berrehar, F., et al. (2008). High prevalence of Foxp3 and IL17 in MMR-proficient colorectal carcinomas. *Gut* 57, 772–779.
- Leach, F. S., Nicolaides, N. C., Papadopoulos, N., Liu, B., Jen, J., Parsons, R., et al. (1993). Mutations of a mutS homolog in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Cell* 75, 1215–1225.
- Lee, K. S., Kwak, Y., Ahn, S., Shin, E., Oh, H. K., Kim, D. W., et al. (2017). Prognostic implication of CD274 (PD-L1) protein expression in tumor-infiltrating immune cells for microsatellite unstable and stable colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* 66, 927–939.
- Lee, L. H., Cavalcanti, M. S., Segal, N. H., Hechtman, J. F., Weiser, M. R., Smith, J. J., et al. (2016). Patterns and prognostic relevance of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in colorectal carcinoma. *Modern Pathology* 29, 1433–1442.
- Lee, P. J., McNulty, S., Duncavage, E. J., Heusel, J. W., & Hagemann, I. S. (2017). Clinical targeted next-generation sequencing shows increased mutational load in endometrioid-type endometrial adenocarcinoma with deficient DNA mismatch repair. *International Journal of Gynecological Pathology*. https://doi.org/10.1097/PGP. 0000000000000459.
- Li, G. M. (2008). Mechanisms and functions of DNA mismatch repair. *Cell Research 18*, 85–98.
- Li, Y., Liang, L., Dai, W., Cai, G., Xu, Y., Li, X., et al. (2016). Prognostic impact of programed cell death-1 (PD-1) and PD-ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression in cancer cells and tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in colorectal cancer. *Molecular Cancer* 15, 55.
- Ligtenberg, M. J., Kuiper, R. P., Chan, T. L., Goossens, M., Hebeda, K. M., Voorendt, M., et al. (2009). Heritable somatic methylation and inactivation of MSH2 in families with Lynch syndrome due to deletion of the 3' exons of TACSTD. *Nature Genetics* 41, 112–117.
- Lin, K. M., Shashidharan, M., Thorson, A. G., Ternent, C. A., Blatchford, G. J., Christensen, M. A., et al. (1998). Cumulative incidence of colorectal and extracolonic cancers in MLH1 and MSH2 mutation carriers of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery* 2, 67–71.
- Linnebacher, M., Gebert, J., Rudy, W., Woerner, S., Yuan, Y. P., Bork, P., et al. (2001). Frameshift peptide-derived T-cell epitopes: A source of novel tumor-specific antigens. *International Journal of Cancer* 93, 6–11.
- Liu, B., Parsons, R., Papadopoulos, N., Nicolaides, N. C., Lynch, H. T., Watson, P., et al. (1996). Analysis of mismatch repair genes in hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer patients. *Nature Medicine* 2, 169–174.
- Llosa, N. J., Cruise, M., Tam, A., Wicks, E. C., Hechenbleikner, E. M., Taube, J. M., et al. (2015). The vigorous immune microenvironment of microsatellite instable colon cancer is balanced by multiple counter-inhibitory checkpoints. *Cancer Discovery* 5, 43–51.
- Lochhead, P., Kuchiba, A., Imamura, Y., Liao, X., Yamauchi, M., Nishihara, R., et al. (2013). Microsatellite instability and BRAF mutation testing in colorectal cancer prognostication. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 105, 1151–1156.
- Lynch, H. T. (1999). Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC). Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics 86, 130–135.
- Lynch, H. T., & de la Chapelle, A. (1999). Genetic susceptibility to non-polyposis colorectal cancer. Journal of Medical Genetics 36, 801–818.
- Lynch, H. T., & Smyrk, T. C. (1999). Hereditary colorectal cancer. Seminars in Oncology 26, 478–484.
- Maby, P., Galon, J., & Latouche, J. B. (2016). Frameshift mutations, neoantigens and tumorspecific CD8(+) T cells in microsatellite unstable colorectal cancers. *Oncoimmunology* 5, e1115943.
- Magrini, R., Bhonde, M. R., Hanski, M. L., Notter, M., Scherubl, H., Boland, C. R., et al. (2002). Cellular effects of CPT-11 on colon carcinoma cells: Dependence on p53 and hMLH1 status. *International Journal of Cancer* 101, 23–31.
- Majzner, R. G., Heitzeneder, S., & Mackall, C. L. (2017). Harnessing the immunotherapy revolution for the treatment of childhood cancers. *Cancer Cell* 31, 476–485.
- Maple, J. T., Smyrk, T. C., Boardman, L. A., Johnson, R. A., Thibodeau, S. N., & Chari, S. T. (2005). Defective DNA mismatch repair in long-term (> or =3 years) survivors with pancreatic cancer. *Pancreatology* 5, 220–227.
- Masugi, Y., Nishihara, R., Yang, J., Mima, K., da Silva, A., Shi, Y., et al. (2017). Tumour CD274 (PD-L1) expression and T cells in colorectal cancer. *Gut* 66, 1463–1473.
- Mathiak, M., Warneke, V. S., Behrens, H. M., Haag, J., Boger, C., Kruger, S., et al. (2017). Clinicopathologic characteristics of microsatellite instable gastric carcinomas

revisited: Urgent need for standardization. Applied Immunohistochemistry & Molecular Morphology 25, 12–24.

- Menko, F. H., Wijnen, J. T., Vasen, H. F., Sijmons, R. H., & Khan, P. M. (1998). Familial and hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer: Issues relevant for surgical practice. Recent results. *Cancer Research* 146, 20–31.
- Middha, S., Zhang, L., Nafa, K., Jayakumaran, G., Wong, D., Kim, H. R., et al. (2017). Reliable pan-cancer microsatellite instability assessment by using targeted next-generation sequencing data. *JCO Precision Oncology* 1, 1–17.
- Mills, A. M., Liou, S., Ford, J. M., Berek, J. S., Pai, R. K., & Longacre, T. A. (2014). Lynch syndrome screening should be considered for all patients with newly diagnosed endometrial cancer. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology* 38, 1501–1509.
- Mitmaker, E., Alvarado, C., Begin, L. R., & Trifiro, M. (2008). Microsatellite instability in benign and malignant thyroid neoplasms. *The Journal of Surgical Research 150*, 40–48.
- Miyaki, M., Iijima, T., Yamaguchi, T., Kadofuku, T., Funata, N., & Mori, T. (2004). Both BRAF and KRAS mutations are rare in colorectal carcinomas from patients with hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Cancer Letters* 211, 105–109.
- Mlecnik, B., Bindea, G., Angell, H. K., Maby, P., Angelova, M., Tougeron, D., et al. (2016). Integrative analyses of colorectal cancer show immunoscore is a stronger predictor of patient survival than microsatellite instability. *Immunity* 44, 698–711.
- Moreira, L., Balaguer, F., Lindor, N., de la Chapelle, A., Hampel, H., Aaltonen, L. A., et al. (2012). Identification of Lynch syndrome among patients with colorectal cancer. *JAMA* 308, 1555–1565.
- Mouradov, D., Domingo, E., Gibbs, P., Jorissen, R. N., Li, S., Soo, P. Y., et al. (2013). Survival in stage II/III colorectal cancer is independently predicted by chromosomal and microsatellite instability, but not by specific driver mutations. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology 108*, 1785–1793.
- Murphy, K. M., Zhang, S., Geiger, T., Hafez, M. J., Bacher, J., Berg, K. D., et al. (2006). Comparison of the microsatellite instability analysis system and the Bethesda panel for the determination of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancers. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics* 8, 305–311.
- Murphy, M. A., & Wentzensen, N. (2011). Frequency of mismatch repair deficiency in ovarian cancer: A systematic review this article is a US Government work and, as such, is in the public domain of the United States of America. *International Journal* of Cancer 129, 1914–1922.
- Muzny, D. M., Bainbridge, M. N., Chang, K., Dinh, H. H., Drummond, J. A., Fowler, G., et al., & Cancer Genome Atlas Network(2012). Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. *Nature* 487, 330–337.
- Mvundura, M., Grosse, S. D., Hampel, H., & Palomaki, G. E. (2010). The cost-effectiveness of genetic testing strategies for Lynch syndrome among newly diagnosed patients with colorectal cancer. *Genetics in Medicine* 12, 93–104.
- Naboush, A., Roman, C. A., & Shapira, I. (2017). Immune checkpoint inhibitors in malignancies with mismatch repair deficiency: A review of the state of the current knowledge. *Journal of Investigative Medicine* 65, 754–758.
- Nakamura, H., Arai, Y., Totoki, Y., Shirota, T., Elzawahry, A., Kato, M., et al. (2015). Genomic spectra of biliary tract cancer. *Nature Genetics* 47, 1003–1010.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network (2018). NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/colon.pdf.
- Nebot-Bral, L., Brandao, D., Verlingue, L., Rouleau, E., Caron, O., Despras, E., et al. (2017). Hypermutated tumours in the era of immunotherapy: The paradigm of personalised medicine. *European Journal of Cancer* 84, 290–303.
- Nicolaides, N. C., Papadopoulos, N., Liu, B., Wei, Y. F., Carter, K. C., Ruben, S. M., et al. (1994). Mutations of two PMS homologues in hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer. *Nature* 371, 75–80.
- Nishimura, H., Nose, M., Hiai, H., Minato, N., & Honjo, T. (1999). Development of lupuslike autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motifcarrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity* 11, 141–151.
- Niu, B., Ye, K., Zhang, Q., Lu, C., Xie, M., McLellan, M. D., et al. (2014). MSIsensor: Microsatellite instability detection using paired tumor-normal sequence data. *Bioinformatics* 30, 1015–1016.
- Onda, M., Nakamura, I., Suzuki, S., Takenoshita, S., Brogren, C. H., Stampanoni, S., et al. (2001). Microsatellite instability in thyroid cancer: Hot spots, clinicopathological implications, and prognostic significance. *Clinical Cancer Research* 7, 3444–3449.
- Overman, M. J., Lonardi, S., Wong, K. Y. M., Lenz, H. J., Gelsomino, F., Aglietta, M., et al. (2018). Durable clinical benefit with nivolumab plus ipilimumab in DNA mismatch repair-deficient/microsatellite instability-high metastatic colorectal cancer. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology 36, 773–779 JCO2017769901.
- Overman, M. J., McDermott, R., Leach, J. L., Lonardi, S., Lenz, H. J., Morse, M. A., et al. (2017). Nivolumab in patients with metastatic DNA mismatch repair-deficient or microsatellite instability-high colorectal cancer (CheckMate 142): An open-label, multicentre, phase 2 study. *The Lancet Oncology* 18, 1182–1191.
- Pal, T., Permuth-Wey, J., Kumar, A., & Sellers, T. A. (2008). Systematic review and metaanalysis of ovarian cancers: Estimation of microsatellite-high frequency and characterization of mismatch repair deficient tumor histology. *Clinical Cancer Research* 14, 6847–6854.
- Palmieri, G., Ascierto, P. A., Cossu, A., Colombino, M., Casula, M., Botti, G., et al. (2003). Assessment of genetic instability in melanocytic skin lesions through microsatellite analysis of benign naevi, dysplastic naevi, and primary melanomas and their metastases. *Melanoma Research* 13, 167–170.
- Palomaki, G. E., McClain, M. R., Melillo, S., Hampel, H. L., & Thibodeau, S. N. (2009). EGAPP supplementary evidence review: DNA testing strategies aimed at reducing morbidity and mortality from Lynch syndrome. *Genetics in Medicine* 11, 42–65.
- Papadopoulos, N., Nicolaides, N. C., Wei, Y. F., Ruben, S. M., Carter, K. C., Rosen, C. A., et al. (1994). Mutation of a mutL homolog in hereditary colon cancer. *Science* 263, 1625–1629.

Pardoll, D. M. (2012). The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 12, 252–264.

- Park, J. A., & Cheung, N. V. (2017). Limitations and opportunities for immune checkpoint inhibitors in pediatric malignancies. *Cancer Treatment Reviews* 58, 22–33.
- Phipps, A. I., Passarelli, M. N., Chan, A. T., Harrison, T. A., Jeon, J., Hutter, C. M., et al. (2016). Common genetic variation and survival after colorectal cancer diagnosis: A genomewide analysis. *Carcinogenesis* 37, 87–95.
- Pommier, Y. (2006). Topoisomerase I inhibitors: Camptothecins and beyond. Nature Reviews. Cancer 6, 789–802.
- Popat, S., Hubner, R., & Houlston, R. S. (2005). Systematic review of microsatellite instability and colorectal cancer prognosis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 23, 609–618.
- Remo, A., Fassan, M., & Lanza, G. (2016). Immunohistochemical evaluation of mismatch repair proteins in colorectal carcinoma: The AIFEG/GIPAD proposal. *Pathologica 108*, 104–109.
- Resnick, K. E., Frankel, W. L., Morrison, C. D., Fowler, J. M., Copeland, L. J., Stephens, J., et al. (2010). Mismatch repair status and outcomes after adjuvant therapy in patients with surgically staged endometrial cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 117, 234–238.
- Ribic, C. M., Sargent, D. J., Moore, M. J., Thibodeau, S. N., French, A. J., Goldberg, R. M., et al. (2003). Tumor microsatellite-instability status as a predictor of benefit from fluorouracil-based adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 349, 247–257.
- Rizvi, N. A., Hellmann, M. D., Snyder, A., Kvistborg, P., Makarov, V., Havel, J. J., et al. (2015). Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Science* 348, 124–128.
- Ruemmele, P., Dietmaier, W., Terracciano, L., Tornillo, L., Bataille, F., Kaiser, A., et al. (2009). Histopathologic features and microsatellite instability of cancers of the papilla of Vater and their precursor lesions. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology* 33, 691–704.
- Saeterdal, I., Bjorheim, J., Lislerud, K., Gjertsen, M. K., Bukholm, I. K., Olsen, O. C., et al. (2001). Frameshift-mutation-derived peptides as tumor-specific antigens in inherited and spontaneous colorectal cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98, 13255–13260.
- Salipante, S. J., Scroggins, S. M., Hampel, H. L., Turner, E. H., & Pritchard, C. C. (2014). Microsatellite instability detection by next generation sequencing. *Clinical Chemistry* 60, 1192–1199.
- Salovaara, R., Loukola, A., Kristo, P., Kaariainen, H., Ahtola, H., Eskelinen, M., et al. (2000). Population-based molecular detection of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology 18*, 2193–2200.
- Samowitz, W. S. (2007). The CpG island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer. The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics 9, 281–283.
- Samowitz, W. S., Curtin, K., Ma, K. N., Schaffer, D., Coleman, L. W., Leppert, M., et al. (2001). Microsatellite instability in sporadic colon cancer is associated with an improved prognosis at the population level. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention* 10, 917–923.
- Sargent, D. J., Marsoni, S., Monges, G., Thibodeau, S. N., Labianca, R., Hamilton, S. R., et al. (2010). Defective mismatch repair as a predictive marker for lack of efficacy of fluorouracil-based adjuvant therapy in colon cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology 28*, 3219–3226.
- Schellens, J. H. M., Marabelle, A., Zeignfuss, S., Ding, J., Pruitt, S. K., & Chung, H. C. (2017, May). Pembrolizumab for previously treated advanced cervical squamous cell cancer: Preliminary results from the phase 2 KEYNOTE-158 study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 35(15\_suppl) (5514-5514).
- Schumacher, T. N., & Schreiber, R. D. (2015). Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science 348, 69–74.
- Segal, N. H., Parsons, D. W., Peggs, K. S., Velculescu, V., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., et al. (2008). Epitope landscape in breast and colorectal cancer. *Cancer Research* 68, 889–892.
- Seiwert, T. Y., Burtness, B., Mehra, R., Weiss, J., Berger, R., Eder, J. P., et al. (2016). Safety and clinical activity of pembrolizumab for treatment of recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-012): An open-label, multicentre, phase 1b trial. *The Lancet Oncology* 17, 956–965.
- Seo, H. M., Chang, Y. S., Joo, S. H., Kim, Y. W., Park, Y. K., Hong, S. W., et al. (2009). Clinicopathologic characteristics and outcomes of gastric cancers with the MSI-H phenotype. Journal of Surgical Oncology 99, 143–147.
- Shia, J. (2008). Immunohistochemistry versus microsatellite instability testing for screening colorectal cancer patients at risk for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer syndrome. Part I. The utility of immunohistochemistry. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics* 10, 293–300.
- Shibata, D. (2002). Molecular tumour clocks and colorectal cancer: Seeing the unseen. Pathology 34, 534–540.
- Shin, D. S., Zaretsky, J. M., Escuin-Ordinas, H., Garcia-Diaz, A., Hu-Lieskovan, S., Kalbasi, A., et al. (2017). Primary resistance to PD-1 blockade mediated by JAK1/2 mutations. *Cancer Discovery* 7, 188–201.
- Shlien, A., Campbell, B. B., de Borja, R., Alexandrov, L. B., Merico, D., Wedge, D., et al. (2015). Combined hereditary and somatic mutations of replication error repair genes result in rapid onset of ultra-hypermutated cancers. *Nature Genetics* 47, 257–262.
- Sinicrope, F. A., Foster, N. R., Thibodeau, S. N., Marsoni, S., Monges, G., Labianca, R., et al. (2011). DNA mismatch repair status and colon cancer recurrence and survival in clinical trials of 5-fluorouracil-based adjuvant therapy. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute 103*, 863–875.
- Sinicrope, F. A., Rego, R. L., Foster, N., Sargent, D. J., Windschitl, H. E., Burgart, L. J., Witzig, T. E., et al. (2006). Microsatellite instability accounts for tumor site-related differences in clinicopathologic variables and prognosis in human colon cancers. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology* 101, 2818–2825.

- Sinicrope, F. A., Rego, R. L., Halling, K. C., Foster, N., Sargent, D. J., La Plant, B., et al. (2006). Prognostic impact of microsatellite instability and DNA ploidy in human colon carcinoma patients. *Gastroenterology* 131, 729–737.
- Sloan, E. A., Ring, K. L, Willis, B. C., Modesitt, S. C., & Mills, A. M. (2017). PD-L1 expression in mismatch repair-deficient endometrial carcinomas, including Lynch syndrome-associated and MLH1 promoter hypermethylated tumors. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology* 41, 326–333.
- Smyth, E. C., Wotherspoon, A., Peckitt, C., Gonzalez, D., Hulkki-Wilson, S., Eltahir, Z., et al. (2017). Mismatch repair deficiency, microsatellite instability, and survival: An exploratory analysis of the medical research council adjuvant gastric Infusional chemotherapy (MAGIC) trial. JAMA Oncology 3, 1197–1203.
- Snowsill, T., Huxley, M., Hoyle, M., Jones-Hughes, T., Coelho, H., Cooper, C., et al. (2015). A model-based assessment of the cost-utility of strategies to identify Lynch syndrome in early-onset colorectal cancer patients. *BMC Cancer* 15, 313.
- Snyder, A., Makarov, V., Merghoub, T., Yuan, J., Zaretsky, M. J., Desrichard, A., et al. (2014). Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 371, 2189–2199.
- Stelloo, E., Jansen, A. M. L., Osse, E. M., Nout, R. A., Creutzberg, C. L., Ruano, D., et al. (2017). Practical guidance for mismatch repair-deficiency testing in endometrial cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 28, 96–102.
- Stiller, M., Knapp, M., Stenzel, U., Hofreiter, M., & Meyer, M. (2009). Direct multiplex sequencing (DMPS)–a novel method for targeted high-throughput sequencing of ancient and highly degraded DNA. *Genome Research* 19, 1843–1848.
- Stoehr, C., Burger, M., Stoehr, R., Bertz, S., Ruemmele, P., Hofstaedter, F., et al. (2012). Mismatch repair proteins hMLH1 and hMSH2 are differently expressed in the three main subtypes of sporadic renal cell carcinoma. *Pathobiology* 79, 162–168.
- Stoffel, E., Mukherjee, B., Raymond, V. M., Tayob, N., Kastrinos, F., Sparr, J., et al. (2009). Calculation of risk of colorectal and endometrial cancer among patients with Lynch syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 137, 1621–1627.
- Suh, W. K., Tafuri, A., Berg-Brown, N. N., Shahinian, A., Plyte, S., Duncan, G. S., et al. (2004). The inducible costimulator plays the major costimulatory role in humoral immune responses in the absence of CD28. *Journal of Immunology* 172, 5917–5923.
- Suraweera, N., Duval, A., Reperant, M., Vaury, C., Furlan, D., Leroy, K., et al. (2002). Evaluation of tumor microsatellite instability using five quasimonomorphic mononucleotide repeats and pentaplex PCR. *Gastroenterology* 123, 1804–1811.
- Tabori, U., Hansford, J. R., Achatz, M. I., Kratz, C. P., Plon, S. E., Frebourg, T., et al. (2017). Clinical management and tumor surveillance recommendations of inherited mismatch repair deficiency in childhood. *Clinical Cancer Research* 23, e32–e37.
- Takamochi, K., Takahashi, F., Suehara, Y., Sato, E., Kohsaka, S., Hayashi, T., et al. (2017). DNA mismatch repair deficiency in surgically resected lung adenocarcinoma: Microsatellite instability analysis using the Promega panel. *Lung Cancer* 110, 26–31.
- Tejpar, S., Saridaki, Z., Delorenzi, M., Bosman, F., & Roth, A. D. (2011). Microsatellite instability, prognosis and drug sensitivity of stage II and III colorectal cancer: More complexity to the puzzle. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 103, 841–844.
- Thibodeau, S. N., Bren, G., & Schaid, D. (1993). Microsatellite instability in cancer of the proximal colon. Science 260, 816–819.
- Timmermann, B., Kerick, M., Roehr, C., Fischer, A., Isau, M., Boerno, S. T., et al. (2010). Somatic mutation profiles of MSI and MSS colorectal cancer identified by whole exome next generation sequencing and bioinformatics analysis. *PLoS One* 5, e15661.
- Topalian, S. L, Drake, C. G., & Pardoll, D. M. (2012). Targeting the PD-1/B7-H1(PD-L1) pathway to activate anti-tumor immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology 24*, 207–212.
- Topalian, S. L., Hodi, F. S., Brahmer, J. R., Gettinger, S. N., Smith, D. C., McDermott, D. F., et al. (2012). Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 366, 2443–2454.
- Trautmann, K., Terdiman, J. P., French, A. J., Roydasgupta, R., Sein, N., Kakar, S., et al. (2006). Chromosomal instability in microsatellite-unstable and stable colon cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research* 12, 6379–6385.
- Umar, A., Boland, C. R., Terdiman, J. P., Syngal, S., de la Chapelle, A., Ruschoff, J., et al. (2004). Revised Bethesda guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome) and microsatellite instability. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 96, 261–268.
- Umar, A., Risinger, J. I., Hawk, E. T., & Barrett, J. C. (2004). Testing guidelines for hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 4, 153–158.
- Van Cutsem, E., Cervantes, A., Adam, R., Sobrero, A., Van Krieken, J. H., Aderka, D., et al. (2016). ESMO consensus guidelines for the management of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 27, 1386–1422.
- van Dam, L. S., de Zwart, V. M., & Meyer-Wentrup, F. A. (2015). The role of programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) and its ligands in pediatric cancer. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer* 62, 190–197.
- Vasen, H. F., Mecklin, J. P., Khan, P. M., & Lynch, H. T. (1991). The international collaborative group on hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (ICG-HNPCC). *Diseases of* the Colon and Rectum 34, 424–425.
- Vasen, H. F., & Muller, H. (1991). DNA studies in families with hereditary forms of cancer. Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde 135, 1620–1623.
- Verma, L., Kane, M. F., Brassett, C., Schmeits, J., Evans, D. G., Kolodner, R. D., et al. (1999). Mononucleotide microsatellite instability and germline MSH6 mutation analysis in early onset colorectal cancer. *Journal of Medical Genetics* 36, 678–682.
- Viana-Pereira, M., Lee, A., Popov, S., Bax, D. A., Al-Sarraj, S., Bridges, L. R., et al. (2011). Microsatellite instability in pediatric high grade glioma is associated with genomic profile and differential target gene inactivation. *PLoS One 6*, e20588.
- Vilar, E., & Gruber, S. B. (2010). Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer—The stable evidence. Nature Reviews. Clinical Oncology 7, 153–162.
- Vilar, E., Scaltriti, M., Balmana, J., Saura, C., Guzman, M., Arribas, J., ... Tabernero, J. (2008). Microsatellite instability due to hMLH1 deficiency is associated with increased

cytotoxicity to irinotecan in human colorectal cancer cell lines. British Journal of Cancer 99, 1607–1612.

- Wang, L., Cunningham, J. M., Winters, J. L., Guenther, J. C., French, A. J., Boardman, L. A., et al. (2003). BRAF mutations in colon cancer are not likely attributable to defective DNA mismatch repair. *Cancer Research* 63, 5209–5212.
- Wang, T., Stadler, Z. K., Zhang, L., Weiser, M. R., Basturk, O., Hechtman, J. F., et al. (2017). Immunohistochemical null-phenotype for mismatch repair proteins in colonic carcinoma associated with concurrent MLH1 hypermethylation and MSH2 somatic mutations. *Familial Cancer*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10689-017-0031-9.
- Watanabe, T., Matsuda, K., Ishihara, S., Nozawa, K., Hayama, T., Yamada, H., et al. (2012). Significance of microsatellite instability (MSI) for colorectal cancer following adjuvant therapy with doxifluridine. *Medical Oncology 29*, 133.
- Weisenberger, D. J., Siegmund, K. D., Campan, M., Young, J., Long, T. I., Faasse, M. A., et al. (2006). CpG island methylator phenotype underlies sporadic microsatellite instability and is tightly associated with BRAF mutation in colorectal cancer. *Nature Genetics* 38, 787–793.
- Wijnen, J. T., Vasen, H. F., Khan, P. M., Zwinderman, A. H., van der Klift, H., Mulder, A., et al. (1998). Clinical findings with implications for genetic testing in families with clustering of colorectal cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 339, 511–518.
- Woerner, S. M., Yuan, Y. P., Benner, A., Korff, S., von Knebel Doeberitz, M., & Bork, P. (2010). SelTarbase, a database of human mononucleotide-microsatellite mutations and their potential impact to tumorigenesis and immunology. *Nucleic Acids Research* 38, 682–689.
- Yamamoto, H., & Imai, K. (2015). Microsatellite instability: An update. Archives of Toxicology 89, 899–921.

- Yarchoan, M., Johnson, B. A., III, Lutz, E. R., Laheru, D. A., & Jaffee, E. M. (2017). Targeting neoantigens to augment antitumour immunity. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 17, 209–222.
- Yuen, S. T., Davies, H., Chan, T. L., Ho, J. W., Bignell, G. R., Cox, C., et al. (2002). Similarity of the phenotypic patterns associated with BRAF and KRAS mutations in colorectal neoplasia. *Cancer Research* 62, 6451–6455.
- Zhang, L. (2008). Immunohistochemistry versus microsatellite instability testing for screening colorectal cancer patients at risk for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer syndrome. Part II. The utility of microsatellite instability testing. *The Journal* of *Molecular Diagnostics* 10, 301–307.
- Zhang, Q., Chikina, M., Szymczak-Workman, A. L., Horne, W., Kolls, J. K., Vignali, K. M., et al. (2017). LAG3 limits regulatory T cell proliferation and function in autoimmune diabetes. *Science Immunology 2*. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol.aah4569.
- Zhang, Y., Sun, Z., Mao, X., Wu, H., Luo, F., Wu, X., L, et al. (2017). Impact of mismatch-repair deficiency on the colorectal cancer immune microenvironment. *Oncotarget 8*, 85526–85536.
- Zighelboim, I., Goodfellow, P. J., Gao, F., Gibb, R. K., Powell, M. A., Rader, J. S., et al. (2007). Microsatellite instability and epigenetic inactivation of MLH1 and outcome of patients with endometrial carcinomas of the endometrioid type. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 25, 2042–2048.
- Zou, W., & Chen, L. (2008). Inhibitory B7-family molecules in the tumour microenvironment. Nature Reviews. Immunology 8, 467–477.